
 

    

 

Tenants', Leaseholders' and 

Residents' Consultative Forum 

Special AGENDA 
 
 

DATE: 

 

Wednesday 26 September 2012 

 

TIME: 

 

2.00 pm 

 

VENUE: 

 

Committee Rooms 1 & 2,  

Harrow Civic Centre 

 
 
 

 

 MEMBERSHIP      (Quorum 3 Council Members) 

   

  Chairman: 

 

Councillor Bob Currie  

 

  Councillors: 

 
Mano Dharmarajah 
 

Mrs Camilla Bath (VC) 
Kam Chana 
 

  
 

 
Representatives of Individual Housing Estate Tenants’ and Residents’ 

Associations 

 
 

Reserve Members: 

 
1. Victoria Silver 
2. Ben Wealthy 
 

1. Susan Hall 
2. Barry Macleod-Cullinane 
 

  
 

 
 

Contact:  Nicola Fletcher, Democratic & Electoral Services Officer 

Tel:  020 8416 8050    E-mail:  nicola.fletcher@harrow.gov.uk 
 



 

Tenants', Leaseholders' and Residents' Consultative Forum - 26 September 2012 

 AGENDA - PART I   
 

1. ATTENDANCE BY RESERVE MEMBERS    
 
 To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve Members. 

 
Reserve Members may attend meetings:- 
 
(i) to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve; 
(ii) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; and  
(iii) the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that the 

Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve; 
(iv) if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives after 

the commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member can only act 
as a Member from the start of the next item of business on the agenda after 
his/her arrival. 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
 
 To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, arising 

from business to be transacted at this meeting, from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Forum; 
(b) all other Members present. 
 

3. DEPUTATIONS    
 
 To receive deputations (if any) under the provisions of Executive Procedure Rule 50 

(Part 4D of the Constitution). 
 

4. INFORMATION REPORT: HOUSING CHANGES REVIEW UPDATE   (Pages 1 - 
52) 

 
 Report of the Divisional Director of Housing Services. 

 
5. INFORMATION REPORT: HOUSING RENT OPTIONS PAPER   (Pages 53 - 62) 
 
 Report of the Divisional Director of Housing Services. 

 
 AGENDA - PART II - NIL   

 
 



 

REPORT FOR: 

 

Tenants’, Leaseholders’ 

and Residents’ 

Consultative Forum 

Date of Meeting: 

 

26 September 2012 

Subject: 

 

INFORMATION REPORT – 

Housing Changes Review 

Update 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Lynne Pennington, Divisional Director 
of Housing Services 
 

Exempt: 

 

No  
 

Enclosures: 

 

Yes 
Appendix 1 – Consultation Outcomes 
Appendix 2 -  Final draft Tenancy 
Strategy  
Appendix 3 – Draft Tenancy Policy 

 
 

Section 1 – Summary 
 

 
This report sets out an update on the Housing Changes Review which 
involves a full review of and completion of a range of housing strategy and 
policies as required by the Localism Act 2011. It concentrates on the final 
draft Tenancy Strategy and draft Tenancy Policy. TLRCF are invited to make 
comments.  
 

FOR INFORMATION 
 

Agenda Item 4 
Pages 1 to 52 

1



 

 

 
 

Section 2 – Report 
 

2.1 TLRCF received an update on the Housing Changes Review at its 
meeting on the 17 July with regard to the draft Tenancy Strategy and 
Allocation scheme. The Tenancy Strategy has now been amended 
following the close of the formal consultation and the final draft is now 
attached for comment before being reported to Cabinet for approval in 
December 2012. 

 
2.2 The draft Tenancy Policy is also attached for comment. This follows the 

principles set out in the Tenancy Strategy to enable the introduction of 
flexible fixed term tenancies for new tenants of the Council’s housing 
stock.  

Section 3 – Further Information 
 

3.1 Tenancy Strategy  
 

3.2  The draft Tenancy Strategy sets out the Council’s intention to support the 
introduction of fixed term tenancies for new tenants. All new tenants will be 
given fixed term tenancies but there will be automatic renewal for 
vulnerable groups such as the elderly and those with disabilities.  There 
will be a review process for all other tenants at the end of the fixed term 
and in the majority of cases tenancies are likely to be renewed because 
circumstances are unlikely to change. However tenancies would not be 
renewed where the property is larger than the household housing need 
and/or where the household could afford to find alternative suitable 
housing elsewhere.  

 
3.3 The proposed income and savings limits at which a household would be 

deemed to be able to find suitable affordable housing have been amended 
following the formal consultation. The income limits have reduced slightly 
and are the gross income required to pay the median market rent for a 
property in Harrow assuming that housing costs should not exceed 30% of 
gross income.  These are: 

 

Household Size Income Limit 

1 bed £30,000 

2 bed £38,000 

3 bed £48,000 

4 bed £60,000 

 
 The proposed savings limit has been increased to £24,000. These income 

limits would also be set out in the Allocation Policy and households 
earning above these limits would not be accepted as eligible for social 
housing in Harrow. This income would also be sufficient to enable 
purchase of shared ownership affordable housing (as an alternative to 
renting in the private rented sector). 
 

2



 3 

3.4  A summary of the consultation responses is attached at Appendix 1. The 
main changes made as a result of the consultation are: 

 

• Care Leavers have been added to the specified groups to be given 
automatic renewal of a fixed term tenancy. 

• All non specified groups will be given a fixed term 5 year tenancy 
subject to review at the end of the fixed term. 

• Full time carers, who are not family members, will be treated similarly 
with regard to discretionary succession. 

• Community contribution will be taken into account in the tenancy 
review process although this would not override the need for people to 
move who are living in properties that are too big for their current 
needs. 

• We will not include the option to renew tenancies for households that 
can afford to move and increase the rent to Affordable Rent levels. 

• We have included the need to consider advocacy as well as advice and 
support to vulnerable households where there is any review process. 

• We have made it clear that the proposed Affordable Rent levels are 
guidance only, rather than targets. 

 
3.5 The proposed Tenancy Strategy is attached at Appendix 2 and is currently 

out for final consultation prior to being reported to Cabinet for approval in 
December 2012. Under the Localism Act 2011 the Council is required to 
have its Tenancy Strategy adopted before January 2013. 

 
3.5 Tenancy Policy  
 
3.6 The Council’s draft Tenancy Policy is attached at Appendix 3. It follows the 

guidelines in the Tenancy Strategy and once adopted would mean that all 
new Council tenants, apart from specified groups, will be given 5 year 
fixed term tenancies. At the end of the fixed term there will be a review 
process considering current housing need and ability to afford other 
accommodation for all households apart from those in the specified 
groups, to decide whether the tenancy should be renewed.  

 
3.7 The policy also proposes to introduce Introductory and Probationary 
 tenancies for Council tenancies to be followed by a fixed term tenancy. 

 
3.8 The policy sets out the review and complaints process an applicant or 

tenant can use if they want to seek a review of any decision relating to the 
granting or renewal of a fixed term flexible tenancy.  

 
3.9 The draft Tenancy Policy is currently out on formal consultation and 

comments are invited from TLFCF before being reported to Cabinet in 
December 2012. 

 

Section 4 – Financial Implications 

 
4.1 The thrust of the Housing Changes Review is to make the most effective 

use of our existing social housing stock as well as the private rented 
sector, increase new housing supply and other housing options that 

3



 4 

ultimately will assist in mitigating General Fund revenue pressures relating 
to the predicted rising costs of homelessness. 

 
4.2 The introduction of fixed term tenancies for Harrow Council stock may 

have resource implications in terms of staff resources and training to 
undertake tenancy reviews. However these are anticipated to be cost 
neutral in terms of the additional lettings generated and no additional 
resource is budgeted for at this time. 

 

Section 5 - Equalities implications 
 

5.1  An overarching equalities impact assessment was published for the 
Housing Changes Review with the intention to publish individual 
assessments for each strategy/policy at the point of consultation and this 
approach has been followed for the Tenancy Strategy.  

 
5.2 The Tenancy Strategy EqIA concluded on a range of actions to remove 

the identified adverse impacts and better promote equality. For example 
the strategy proposes options to ensure that fixed term tenancies do not 
adversely impact on the health and well being of households that include 
someone with a disability. Through the consultation process an 
amendment has been agreed with regard to Careleavers to ensure that 
the introduction of fixed term tenancies does not lead to an increased 
vulnerability for this priority group and the EqIA has been amended to 
reflect this. 

 

Section 6 – Corporate Priorities  
 

6.1  This report incorporates the following corporate priorities by involving 
residents in determining future housing policies and strategies that support 
people in priority housing need: 

 

• United and involved communities:  A Council that listens and leads. 

• Supporting and protecting people who are most in need. 
 
 

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name: Milan Joshi x  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date: 13 September 2012 

   

 
 

Section 7 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 

Contact:  Alison Pegg/Jane Fernley 

Housing Partnerships and Strategy Manager 
Email: Alison.pegg@harrow.gov.uk or jane.fernley@harrow.gov.uk 

4



 5 

Tel: 020 8424 1933/ 020 8424 1283 
 
 

Background Papers:  Housing Changes Cabinet report and 
associated appendices 15 December 2011, Housing Evidence 
Base, TLRCF Housing Changes Report 11 January 2012, 29 
February 2012 and 17 July, Housing Changes Cabinet report 19 
July 2012. 
 
 

5



6

This page is intentionally left blank



 
1
 

In
fo

rm
a
l 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 2
0

1
1
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s
 

 C
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 

Q
u

e
s

ti
o

n
 

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

R
e

s
p

o
n

s
e
s

  
 R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
d

 o
v

e
ra

ll
 -

 2
5
4

 
 

G
e
n

e
ra

l 
C

o
m

m
e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e

rs
 

H
a

rr
o

w
 R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
  

W
h

e
re

 d
o

 y
o

u
 

li
v
e
 n

o
w

?
 

 

R
e

s
p

o
n
d

e
d
 -

 2
0
9

 
 2
7

%
 o

f 
th

o
s
e
 w

h
o
 t

o
o
k
 p

a
rt

 i
n
 t

h
e
 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 e

v
e

n
ts

 w
e

re
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

te
n

a
n

ts
. 

A
c
ro

s
s
 H

a
rr

o
w

 a
s
 a

 w
h

o
le

, 
th

e
 p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n
 

o
f 

h
o
u

s
e
h

o
ld

s
 w

h
o
 a

re
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

te
n

a
n
ts

 i
s
 

5
.2

%
. 

A
 h

ig
h
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 
c
o

u
n

c
il 

te
n

a
n

ts
 

h
a

v
e
 r

e
s
p

o
n
d

e
d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 t
h

e
 l
o

c
a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 

c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 e

v
e

n
ts

 w
h

ic
h

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
 r

o
a

d
 

s
h

o
w

s
 o

n
 m

a
n

y
 o

f 
H

a
rr

o
w

’s
 c

o
u

n
c
il 

o
w

n
e

d
 

h
o

u
s
in

g
 e

s
ta

te
s
. 
7

%
 o

f 
re

s
p
o

n
d
e

rs
 w

e
re

 
h
o

u
s
in

g
 a

s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o

n
 t

e
n

a
n
ts

. 
 T

h
e
 p

ri
v
a
te

 r
e

n
te

d
 s

e
c
to

r 
re

s
p

o
n
s
e
 a

t 
2

0
%

 
o
f 

th
e

 t
o

ta
l 
is

 r
e

p
re

s
e

n
ta

ti
v
e

 o
f 
th

e
 l
e
v
e
l 

s
e

e
n
 a

c
ro

s
s
 H

a
rr

o
w

. 
 3

0
%

 o
f 

re
s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
w

e
re

 p
ri

v
a
te

 o
w

n
e

rs
 a

n
d
 4

%
 w

e
re

 
le

a
s
e

h
o
ld

e
rs

 w
h

ic
h

 i
s
 s

o
m

e
w

h
a
t 

b
e
lo

w
 t

h
e
 

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
 o

f 
h

o
m

e
o

w
n

e
rs

 a
c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 

b
o

ro
u
g

h
 (

a
ro

u
n

d
 7

0
%

).
 A

g
a
in

 t
h

is
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 
d
u

e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 t

a
rg

e
te

d
 l
o

c
a

ti
o
n

s
 o

f 
th

e
 r

o
a

d
 

s
h

o
w

 e
v
e
n

t.
  

 T
h

e
 r

e
m

a
in

d
e
r 

o
f 
th

e
 r

e
s
p

o
n

d
e

rs
 w

e
re

 
liv

in
g
 w

it
h

 f
a
m

ily
 a

n
d
 f

ri
e
n

d
s
 (

1
1
%

) 
o

r 
in

 
te

m
p
o
ra

ry
 p

ri
v
a
te

 r
e

n
t 

(1
%

).
 

  

 
T

h
e
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 h

a
s
 m

e
a
n
t 
th

a
t 

w
e

 
h

a
v
e

 h
a
d

 r
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
 f

ro
m

 r
e

s
id

e
n
ts

 l
iv

in
g

 i
n
 a

 
w

id
e

 r
a
n

g
e

 o
f 

te
n
u

re
s
. 
T

h
is

 i
n

c
lu

d
e
s
 

h
o
u

s
e
h

o
ld

s
 w

h
o
 a

re
 c

u
rr

e
n

tl
y
 n

o
t 
liv

in
g
 i
n
 

s
o

c
ia

l 
h

o
u

s
in

g
 a

n
d

 w
h

o
 a

re
 t

h
e
re

fo
re

 m
o

s
t 

a
ff

e
c
te

d
 b

y
 t

h
e

 p
ro

p
o

s
e

d
 c

h
a

n
g

e
s
 r

e
la

ti
n

g
 t
o

 
re

n
t 
le

v
e
ls

 a
n

d
 t

y
p
e

 o
f 

te
n

a
n
c
y
. 

  

D
o

 y
o

u
 t

h
in

k
 w

e
 

R
e

s
p

o
n
d

e
d
 –

 2
2

9
 

“A
s
 l
o

n
g
 a

s
 t

h
e
y
 

H
o

u
s
e

h
o
ld

s
 f

ro
m

 a
ll 

te
n
u
re

s
 r

e
c
o
g

n
is

e
 t

h
e
 

7



 
2
 

n
e
e
d

 m
o

re
 

a
ff

o
rd

a
b

le
 

h
o

u
s
in

g
 f

o
r 

re
n

t,
 e

s
p

e
c

ia
ll

y
 

fa
m

il
y
 h

o
u

s
in

g
 

(3
 b

e
d

ro
o

m
s
 o

r 
m

o
re

)?
 

 

 8
7

%
 o

f 
th

o
s
e
 w

h
o
 a

n
s
w

e
re

d
 s

a
id

 t
h

a
t 
y
e

s
, 

H
a

rr
o

w
 d

o
e

s
 i
n
 t

h
e

ir
 v

ie
w

 n
e

e
d

 m
o

re
 

a
ff

o
rd

a
b

le
 h

o
u

s
in

g
 f
o

r 
re

n
t.
  

 M
a
n

y
 p

e
o

p
le

 w
e

re
 w

o
rr

ie
d

 a
b

o
u

t 
th

e
 l
a
c
k
 

o
f 

la
rg

e
r 

a
ff

o
rd

a
b

le
 p

ro
p
e
rt

ie
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 l
o
n

g
 

w
a

it
 f

o
r 

s
u
c
h
 p

ro
p
e
rt

ie
s
 e

s
p

e
c
ia

lly
 o

n
 t

h
e
 

c
o

u
n
c
il’

s
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 w

a
it
in

g
 l
is

t.
  

 W
a
it
in

g
 t

im
e
s
 f

o
r 

la
rg

e
r 

3
 b

e
d

 p
ro

p
e

rt
ie

s
 i
n

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 c
a

n
 b

e
 a

s
 l
o

n
g
 a

s
 6

-1
2
 y

e
a

rs
 

d
e

p
e
n

d
in

g
 o

n
 t

h
e
 a

p
p
lic

a
n

t’
s
 

c
ir

c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 a

v
a

ila
b
ili

ty
 o

f 
la

rg
e
r 

h
o
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 m

a
n

y
 o

f 
th

o
s
e

 w
h

o
 r

e
s
p

o
n
d

e
d

 
w

e
re

 a
w

a
re

 o
f 

th
e
 l
e
n
g

th
 o

f 
ti
m

e
 t

h
e

y
 m

a
y
 

h
a

v
e
 t

o
 w

a
it
 f
o

r 
a

 s
u

it
a
b

ly
 s

iz
e

d
 p

ro
p

e
rt

y
. 

 
 W

it
h

in
 t

h
e
 a

g
e

 g
ro

u
p

s
, 

9
1

%
 o

f 
th

e
 6

5
+

 
g
ro

u
p
 s

a
id

 y
e

s
 t

o
 t

h
is

 q
u
e

s
ti
o

n
 w

h
ile

 8
1

-
8
2

%
 o

f 
2

5
-5

4
 y

e
a

r 
o

ld
s
 a

ls
o
 s

a
id

 y
e

s
 t

o
 

th
is

 q
u
e

s
ti
o
n
. 

 A
c
ro

s
s
 a

ll 
te

n
u

re
s
, 

7
0
%

 o
r 

m
o

re
 o

f 
re

s
p

o
n
d

e
rs

 r
e

p
lie

d
 y

e
s
 t

o
 t

h
is

 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n

. 
 

a
re

 a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 f
o
r 

w
o
rk

in
g
 p

e
o
p

le
” 

 “(
Y

e
s
)…

p
ro

v
id

e
s
 

a
 b

e
tt
e

r 
a

lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 

p
ri

v
a
te

 r
e
n

te
d
 

s
e

c
to

r”
 

 “I
 a

m
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 

te
m

p
o
ra

ry
 

a
c
c
o
m

m
o

d
a

ti
o
n

 
(a

n
d
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e

n
 

fo
r 

th
e
 l
a

s
t 
1

0
 

y
e

a
rs

).
 I

 w
o

u
ld

 
h

o
p
e

 t
o
 b

e
 r

e
-

h
o

u
s
e

d
 

p
e

rm
a
n

e
n
tl
y
 

s
o

m
e
ti
m

e
 i
n
 t

h
e

 
fu

tu
re

.”
 

   

im
p

o
rt

a
n

c
e

 o
f 

h
a

v
in

g
 a

ff
o

rd
a

b
le

 h
o
u

s
in

g
 f
o

r 
re

n
t 
a

n
d

 t
h
is

 s
u
p

p
o
rt

s
 h

o
u

s
in

g
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 i
n

 t
h
e

 
C

o
re

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 a

s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 o

p
ti
o

n
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e

d
 i
n

 
th

e
 H

o
u

s
in

g
 C

h
a

n
g

e
s
 R

e
v
ie

w
. 

T
h

e
re

 i
s
 l
im

it
e
d

 
fu

n
d

in
g

 t
o

 
s

u
p

p
o

rt
 n

e
w

 
a

ff
o

rd
a
b

le
 

h
o

u
s
in

g
 

d
e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t.
 I

f 
w

e
 w

a
n

t 
to

 
c

o
n

ti
n

u
e
 

b
u

il
d

in
g

 

R
e

s
p

o
n
d

e
d
 –

 1
2

4
  

 T
h

e
 r

e
s
p

o
n
s
e
 t
o

 t
h
is

 q
u

e
s
ti
o

n
 w

a
s
 l
e

s
s
 

c
le

a
r 

c
u
t.

 T
h
e

re
 w

a
s
 l
e

s
s
 s

u
p

p
o
rt

 f
o

r 
d
e

v
e
lo

p
in

g
 n

e
w

 a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 a

t 
h
ig

h
e

r 
re

n
t 
le

v
e
ls

 o
v
e
ra

ll 
(2

6
%

) 
a

n
d
 m

o
s
t 

p
e

o
p
le

 f
a

v
o

u
re

d
 a

 h
y
b
ri

d
 a

p
p

ro
a
c
h
 o

f 
in

c
re

a
s
in

g
 r

e
n
ts

 b
y
 a

 s
m

a
ll 

a
m

o
u
n

t 
to

 
e
n

s
u
re

 a
ff

o
rd

a
b

ili
ty

 (
3

7
%

).
 

“S
o
c
ia

l 
re

n
t 
le

v
e

ls
 

m
ig

h
t 

b
e
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
d

 i
n
 l
in

e
 

w
it
h
 c

o
m

p
a
ra

b
le

s
 

in
 t

h
e
 p

ri
v
a
te

 
re

n
te

d
 s

e
c
to

r 
w

h
ic

h
 m

ig
h
t 

m
a
k
e
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 f

a
ir

e
r 

o
v
e
ra

ll.
” 

W
e
 w

ill
 u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e

 f
u

rt
h
e

r 
w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 

a
s
s
o

c
ia

ti
o
n
s
 t
o

 a
s
s
e
s
s
 h

o
w

 m
u
c
h
 r

e
n
ts

 c
a
n

 b
e
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
d
 w

h
ils

t 
e

n
s
u

ri
n
g

 a
ff

o
rd

a
b
ili

ty
. 

T
h
e

re
 

w
ill

 b
e
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

c
o
n

s
u
lt
a

ti
o
n

 b
e
fo

re
 

re
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 f

in
a
lis

e
d

. 

8



 
3
 

a
ff

o
rd

a
b

le
 

h
o

u
s
in

g
 t

h
e
re

 
a

re
 s

o
m

e
 

o
p

ti
o

n
s
 t

o
 

c
o

n
s
id

e
r.

 W
h

ic
h

 
o

p
ti

o
n

 d
o

 y
o

u
 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

?
  

  
  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  

  
  

 

 3
6

%
 o

f 
p

e
o
p
le

 w
h
o

 a
n
s
w

e
re

d
 f
a

v
o
u

re
d
 

b
u

ild
in

g
 a

t 
c
u
rr

e
n

t 
re

n
t 

le
v
e
ls

. 
 R

e
s
p

o
n
s
e

s
 a

ls
o
 d

e
p
e

n
d
e

d
 o

n
 w

h
o

 y
o

u
 

a
s
k
e
d
 a

s
 c

a
n
 b

e
 s

e
e
n
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 e

q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 

a
n

a
ly

s
is

 e
.g

. 
e

x
is

ti
n
g
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

te
n
a

n
ts

 w
e

re
 

le
s
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 a

g
re

e
 t
o

 a
n
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e
 i
n

 r
e

n
ts

 
a
n

d
 m

o
re

 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 s

u
g

g
e
s
t 

th
a
t 

w
e

 s
h
o

u
ld

 
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e
 b

u
ild

in
g
 a

t 
c
u
rr

e
n

t 
re

n
t 

le
v
e
ls

 
w

h
ils

t 
th

o
s
e
 i
n
 t

h
e
 p

ri
v
a
te

 r
e
n
te

d
 a

n
d
 

o
w

n
e

r 
o

c
c
u
p

ie
r 

te
n

u
re

s
 h

e
ld

 t
h
e

 o
p
p

o
s
it
e

 
o
p

in
io

n
. 

 
 

 “A
n
y
 r

e
n
t 

in
c
re

a
s
e
s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 
d

e
p
e

n
d
 o

n
 

h
o

u
s
e

h
o

ld
 i
n

c
o
m

e
 

c
h

a
n

g
e
s
.”

 
 “R

e
n
ts

 s
h

o
u
ld

 b
e

 
in

c
re

a
s
e
d

 f
o

r 
th

o
s
e
 w

h
o
 c

a
n

 
a

ff
o
rd

 i
t 

s
o
 l
o
n

g
 

a
s
 t

h
e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

d
 

re
n

t 
g

o
e
s
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
 

n
e

w
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 
h

o
u
s
in

g
.”

 
 “H

ig
h

e
r 

re
n
ts

 –
 

th
e

 m
a

rg
in

 h
a
s
 t

o
 

b
e

 f
e
lt
 b

y
 

in
d

iv
id

u
a
ls

.”
 

 

T
h

e
 

g
o

v
e
rn

m
e
n

t 
is

 
a

ll
o

w
in

g
 

c
o

u
n

c
il

s
 t

o
 

o
ff

e
r 

fi
x

e
d

 t
e
rm

 
te

n
a
n

c
ie

s
, 

g
e
n

e
ra

ll
y
 5

 
y

e
a

rs
 (

o
r 

2
 

y
e
a

rs
 i
n

 
e

x
c

e
p

ti
o

n
a
l 

c
ir

c
u

m
s
ta

n
c

e
s

).
 

W
o

u
ld

 i
t 

b
e
 f

a
ir

 
to

 o
ff

e
r 

s
h

o
rt

e
r 

te
n

a
n

c
ie

s
 t

o
 

R
e

s
p

o
n
d

e
d
 –

 2
1

0
 

 6
9

%
 s

a
id

 t
h

a
t 
th

e
y
 a

g
re

e
d
 t

h
a
t 

it
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e

 
fa

ir
 i
f 

H
a

rr
o

w
 o

ff
e
re

d
 s

h
o
rt

e
r 

te
rm

 
te

n
a

n
c
ie

s
. 

2
0

%
 o

f 
re

s
p

o
n

d
e
n

ts
 w

e
re

 o
f 

th
e
 

o
p

in
io

n
 t

h
a
t 
th

is
 w

o
u
ld

 n
o

t 
b
e
 f

a
ir

 i
n
 a

n
y
 

s
it
u

a
ti
o

n
. 

 M
a
n

y
 p

e
o

p
le

 a
ls

o
 p

o
in

te
d

 o
u
t 

th
a
t 
re

v
ie

w
s
 

a
t 

th
e

 e
n

d
 o

f 
te

n
a

n
c
ie

s
 w

o
u

ld
 h

a
v
e
 t

o
 b

e
 

u
n

d
e
rt

a
k
e

n
 f

a
ir
ly

 t
o

 e
n
s
u
re

 c
o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 

s
ta

b
ili

ty
 a

n
d

 t
h

a
t 

o
p
ti
o

n
s
 w

h
ic

h
 a

llo
w

e
d

 
p
e

o
p
le

 t
o

 s
ta

y
 i
n

 t
h

e
ir
 h

o
m

e
s
 s

u
c
h

 a
s
 

c
h

a
rg

in
g
 h

ig
h

e
r 

re
n
ts

 w
h

e
re

 a
p

p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 

“Y
e
s
 i
t 
w

o
u
ld

 b
e

 
fa

ir
 t

o
 r

e
v
ie

w
 

te
n

a
n
c
ie

s
 

p
e

ri
o

d
ic

a
lly

 b
u

t 
it
 

a
ls

o
 d

e
p

e
n
d
s
 o

n
 

th
e

 i
n
d

iv
id

u
a
l 

c
ir

c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e

s
 o

f 
th

e
 h

o
u
s
e

h
o
ld

.”
 

 “T
h
e
re

 n
e

e
d

s
 t
o

 
b

e
 s

ta
b
ili

ty
 f
o

r 
y
o

u
n

g
 p

e
o

p
le

.”
 

 “L
o

o
k
 a

t 
th

e
 

T
h
is

 o
p
ti
o
n

 i
s
 p

ro
p

o
s
e
d
 t
o

 b
e

 t
a
k
e
n

 f
o
rw

a
rd

 
s
u

b
je

c
t 

to
 f
u

rt
h

e
r 

im
p
a

c
t 
a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t.

 A
g

re
e
d
 

th
a

t 
th

e
 R

e
v
ie

w
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 n

e
e
d

s
 t

o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h

a
t 

th
e

 s
p
e

c
if
ic

 n
e
e

d
s
 o

f 
h

o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

s
 i
s
 t

a
k
e

n
 i
n

to
 

a
c
c
o

u
n
t 

a
n

d
 i
s
 o

p
e

n
 a

n
d
 t

ra
n

s
p

a
re

n
t.

 T
h
e

re
 

w
ill

 b
e
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

c
o
n

s
u
lt
a

ti
o
n

 b
e
fo

re
 

re
c
o
m

m
e

n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 f

in
a
lis

e
d

. 

9



 
4
 

n
e
w

 t
e
n

a
n

ts
 i

n
 

H
a

rr
o

w
 s

o
 t

h
a

t 
w

e
 h

a
v

e
 m

o
re

 
te

n
a
n

c
ie

s
 t

o
 g

o
 

ro
u

n
d

?
  
  

  
  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  

 

m
ig

h
t 

b
e
 f

a
ir
. 

 W
h
e
n
 s

p
lit

 b
y
 t

e
n

u
re

, 
th

o
s
e

 c
u

rr
e

n
tl
y
 i
n
 

te
m

p
o
ra

ry
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d

a
ti
o

n
 w

e
re

 l
e

a
s
t 

s
u

p
p
o

rt
iv

e
 o

f 
th

e
s
e
 p

ro
p
o

s
a
ls

, 
fo

llo
w

e
d
 b

y
 

c
o

u
n
c
il 

te
n

a
n
ts

 w
h

ile
 p

ri
v
a

te
 r

e
n

te
rs

 w
e

re
 

m
o
s
t 

s
u

p
p
o
rt

iv
e
. 
  

6
0
%

 o
f 
re

s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
a
c
ro

s
s
 e

a
c
h
 o

f 
th

e
 o

th
e
r 

te
n
u

re
s
 w

e
re

 
s
u

p
p
o

rt
iv

e
 o

f 
th

e
s
e
 p

ro
p
o

s
a
ls

 
 

in
c
o

m
e
 o

f 
th

e
 

fa
m

ily
. 
T

h
o
s
e

 
w

o
rk

in
g
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 

in
 a

 p
o

s
it
io

n
 t

o
 

k
e

e
p

 t
h
e
ir

 
e

m
p

lo
y
m

e
n
t 

s
h

o
u

ld
 t

h
e

y
 b

e
 

a
s
k
e
d

 t
o
 m

o
v
e
.”

 
 “…

.m
e
m

o
ri
e

s
, 

a
c
c
o
m

p
lis

h
m

e
n
ts

, 
re

b
u
ild

in
g
 

fa
m

ili
e
s
, 

b
u
ild

in
g
 

a
 l
if
e
 f

o
r 

s
o
m

e
, 

m
ig

h
t 

n
o
t 

b
e
 a

 
g

o
o
d

 i
d
e

a
 t

o
 

c
a

u
s
e

 u
p
h

e
a
v
a
l 
in

 
c
e

rt
a
in

 
c
ir

c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e

s
.”

 
 

8
. 
S

h
o

u
ld

 s
o

m
e

 
g

ro
u

p
s
 (

li
k
e
 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o

p
le

 o
r 

p
e
o

p
le

 w
it

h
 

d
is

a
b

il
it

ie
s
) 

w
h

o
s

e
 

c
ir

c
u

m
s
ta

n
c

e
s

 
a

re
 n

o
t 

li
k
e
ly

 t
o

 
c

h
a
n

g
e
 a

lw
a
y

s
 

b
e
 o

ff
e

re
d

 
m

u
c
h

 l
o

n
g

e
r 

o
r 

li
fe

ti
m

e
 

te
n

a
n

c
ie

s
?

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
  

  
  
  

 

R
e

s
p

o
n
d

e
d
 –

 2
1

4
 

 8
7

%
 o

f 
th

o
s
e
 w

h
o
 r

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
d

 t
o
 t

h
is

 
q
u

e
s
ti
o

n
 s

a
id

 t
h

a
t 
H

a
rr

o
w

 s
h

o
u

ld
 c

o
n
ti
n

u
e
 

to
 o

ff
e
r 

lo
n

g
e
r 

te
n
a

n
c
ie

s
 t

o
 c

e
rt

a
in

 g
ro

u
p

s
 

s
u

c
h
 a

s
 o

ld
e
r 

p
e

o
p
le

 a
n
d
 t

h
o
s
e
 w

it
h

 
d
is

a
b

ili
ti
e

s
. 

M
a

n
y
 p

e
o
p

le
 s

u
g
g

e
s
te

d
 t

h
a

t 
v
u

ln
e

ra
b
le

 g
ro

u
p
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 d

is
a

b
le

d
 a

n
d
 

th
e
 e

ld
e

rl
y
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 e

x
c
lu

d
e

d
 f
ro

m
 f

ix
e

d
 

te
rm

 t
e

n
a
n

c
ie

s
. 
 

 C
o

u
n

c
il 

te
n
a

n
ts

 w
e

re
 m

o
s
t 

s
u

p
p

o
rt

iv
e
 o

f 
th

is
 p

ro
p
o
s
a
l 
a

n
d

 t
h
e

 a
g
e
 g

ro
u

p
s
 5

5
-6

4
 

a
n

d
 6

5
+

 w
e

re
 u

n
s
u

rp
ri

s
in

g
ly

 t
h
e

 m
o

s
t 

s
u

p
p
o

rt
iv

e
 a

g
e

 g
ro

u
p

s
 w

it
h
 5

7
 o

u
t 
o
f 

5
8

 

“Y
e
s
, 

e
s
p

e
c
ia

lly
 

th
o

s
e
 w

it
h
 

d
is

a
b

ili
ti
e
s
.”

 
 “Y

e
s
, 

a
lw

a
y
s
 i
n

 
th

e
s
e
 

c
ir

c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e

s
.”

 
 “1

0
-2

0
 y

e
a

rs
 a

n
d

 
th

e
n

 r
e

a
s
s
e

s
s
.”

 
 “N

o
, 

re
v
ie

w
 f

o
r 

a
ll 

c
a

s
e
s
 a

s
 n

e
e

d
s
 

c
h

a
n

g
e
 o

v
e

r 
ti
m

e
.”

 

N
o

te
d
 a

n
d

 w
ill

 b
e
 i
n

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
d
 i
n
 a

c
ti
o

n
s
 

o
u
tl
in

e
d

 a
b

o
v
e
. 

10



 
5
 

p
e

o
p
le

 i
n

 t
h

e
s
e
 g

ro
u
p

s
 r

e
s
p
o

n
d
in

g
 w

it
h
 a

 
‘y

e
s
’.
  

O
v
e
r 

6
5
%

 o
f 
re

s
p
o
n

d
e
rs

 i
n

 e
a
c
h

 o
f 

th
e
 o

th
e

r 
te

n
u
re

s
 r

e
p
lie

d
 y

e
s
 t

o
 t

h
is

 
q
u

e
s
ti
o

n
. 

 “Y
e
s
, 

b
u
t 

e
a
c
h

 
c
a

s
e
 o

n
 i
ts

 o
w

n
 

m
e

ri
ts

.”
 

 “Y
e
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
is

 
c
o

u
ld

 m
e
a

n
 

m
o

v
in

g
 t
o

 
d

if
fe

re
n
t 

a
d

d
re

s
s
e
s
 

d
e

p
e

n
d
in

g
 o

n
 

c
h

a
n

g
in

g
 n

e
e

d
s
.”

 
 “Y

e
s
 i
f 

th
e
y
 a

re
 

H
a
rr

o
w

 b
a

s
e

d
 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

.”
 

 

 

11



 
6
 

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

F
o

rm
a
l 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 O
u

tc
o

m
e
s
 (

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 p
e
ri

o
d

 9
 M

a
y
 2

0
1
2
 –

 5
 J

u
ly

 2
0
1

2
) 

a
n

d
 p

ro
p

o
s
e

d
 

a
m

e
n

d
m

e
n

ts
 

  C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 Q
u

e
s
ti

o
n

 
S

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
  

  

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
  

 
R

e
s
p

o
n
d
e

d
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
–
 1

0
6
 

q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir

e
s
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 a

t 
5
/7

/1
2
 a

n
d
 

3
0
 g

ro
u
p
s
 r

e
p
re

s
e
n
te

d
 a

t 
th

e
 V

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 

S
e
c
to

r 
F

o
ru

m
 1

0
/5

/1
2
. 

 
 H

A
 r

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 f

ro
m

 C
a
ta

ly
s
t,
 

N
e
tw

o
rk

, 
A

p
n
a
 G

h
a
r 

a
n
d
 M

e
tr

o
p

o
lit

a
n
. 

 H
a
rr

o
w

 L
a

w
 C

e
n
tr

e
 (

H
L
C

),
c
o
lle

a
g
u

e
s
 

fr
o
m

 C
h
ild

re
n
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 G

L
A

 
a
ls

o
 r

e
s
p
o

n
d
e
d
 (

T
h
e
 M

a
y
o
r 

is
 a

 
s
ta

tu
to

ry
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
e
e

) 
             

                H
L
C

 c
o
m

m
e
n
te

d
 t

h
a
t 
“I

n
 

o
u
r 

v
ie

w
 t

h
e
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

is
 f
la

w
e
d
. 
T

h
e
 L

o
c
a
l 

A
u
th

o
ri

ty
 h

a
s
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 

d
e
c
id

e
d
 t

h
a
t 

it
s
 d

e
fa

u
lt
 

p
o
s
it
io

n
 w

ill
 b

e
 t
h
a
t 

a
ll 

te
n
a
n
c
ie

s
, 

w
it
h
 o

n
ly

 v
e
ry

 
lim

it
e
d
 e

x
c
e

p
ti
o
n
s
, 

w
ill

 b
e
 

fi
x
e
d
 t

e
rm

. 
T

h
is

 s
ta

n
c
e
 

     It
 i
s
 d

is
a
p
p
o
in

ti
n
g
 t

o
 

n
o
te

 t
h
a
t 

s
o
m

e
 o

f 
H

a
rr

o
w

’s
 k

e
y
 H

A
 

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

 h
a
v
e
 n

o
t 

re
s
p
o
n
d
e

d
 (

a
n

d
 e

q
u
a
lly

 
th

a
t 

s
o
m

e
 f

a
ile

d
 t

o
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
 H

a
rr

o
w

 o
n
 t

h
e
ir
 

o
w

n
 T

e
n
a
n
c
y
 P

o
lic

ie
s
) 

a
n

d
 t

h
e

y
 w

ill
 b

e
 c

h
a
s
e

d
 

fo
r 

a
 r

e
s
p

o
n
s
e
. 

 W
e
 d

o
 n

o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
t 
th

e
 

a
s
s
e
rt

io
n
 t

h
a
t 
th

e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 f

la
w

e
d
. 

In
 t
h
e
 i
n
it
ia

l 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

(s
e
e
 A

p
p
e

n
d
ix

 1
 o

f 
th

e
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 d

ra
ft

) 
c
a
rr

ie
d
 o

u
t 

in
 

s
u
m

m
e
r/

a
u
tu

m
n
 2

0
1
1
 

H
a
rr

o
w

 r
e
s
id

e
n
ts

 w
e

re
 

12



 
7
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 Q
u

e
s
ti

o
n

 
S

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
  

  

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
  

               T
h
e
 G

L
A

 s
ta

te
s
 i
t 

“ 
is

 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

 i
n
 y

o
u

r 
d
ra

ft
 T

e
n
a

n
c
y
 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 w

o
u
ld

 g
iv

e
n
 R

e
g
is

te
re

d
 

P
ro

v
id

e
rs

 t
h
e
 f

le
x
ib

ili
ty

 t
h
e
y
 n

e
e
d
 i
n
 

o
rd

e
r 

to
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
ir
 c

o
n
tr

a
c
tu

a
l 

c
o
m

m
it
m

e
n
ts

”.
 T

h
e
 M

a
y
o
r 

w
e
lc

o
m

e
s
 

a
n
d
 s

h
a
re

s
 o

u
r 

c
o
m

m
it
m

e
n
t 
to

 t
a
c
k
lin

g
 

u
n
d
e
ro

c
c
u

p
a
ti
o

n
 i
n
 o

rd
e
r 

to
 m

e
e
t 
th

e
 

n
e
e
d
s
 o

f 
la

rg
e
r 

h
o

u
s
e
h

o
ld

s
. 

 T
h
e
 M

a
y
o
r 

w
o
u
ld

 l
ik

e
 r

e
a
s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 t
h

a
t 

th
e
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 r

e
la

ti
n
g
 t

o
 s

o
c
ia

l 
te

n
a

n
t 

m
o
v
e
rs

 s
e
t 
o

u
t 

in
 s

e
c
ti
o
n
 4

 w
o
u
ld

 a
ls

o
 

a
p
p
ly

 w
h
e
re

 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 a

re
 s

e
e
k
in

g
 t

o
 

a
c
tu

a
lly

 p
re

c
lu

d
e

s
 a

 f
u
ll 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o

n
 w

h
e
th

e
r 

th
e
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

s
h
o
u
ld

 a
d
o

p
t 

th
e
 l
e
g
is

la
ti
v
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
s
 

o
f 

a
llo

c
a
ti
n
g
 f

ix
e
d
 t

e
rm

 
te

n
a
n
c
ie

s
 a

t 
a
ll 

a
n
d
 a

s
 

s
u
c
h
 t

h
e
 L

o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri

ty
 

m
a
y
 b

e
 o

p
e
n
in

g
 u

p
 t

h
e

 
p
o
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 

a
 l
e
g
a
l 

c
h
a
lle

n
g
e
” 

  

a
s
k
e
d
 w

h
e
th

e
r 

th
e
y
 

s
u
p

p
o

rt
e

d
 t

h
e
 

in
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
fi
x
e
d
 

te
rm

 t
e
n
a

n
c
ie

s
 o

r 
n
o
t,
 i
n
 

th
e
 c

o
n
te

x
t 

o
f 

th
e
 s

m
a
ll 

s
u
p

p
ly

 o
f 

a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 
h
o

u
s
in

g
 i
n
 H

a
rr

o
w

. 
 

6
9

%
 o

f 
th

e
 r

e
s
p
o

n
d

e
n
ts

 
d
id

 s
u
p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e
 

in
tr

o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
fi
x
e
d
 

te
rm

 t
e
n
a

n
c
ie

s
 f

o
r 

n
e

w
 

te
n
a
n
ts

 a
n
d
 t
h
is

 h
a
s
 

in
fo

rm
e
d
 t
h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

th
e
 f

in
a
l 

T
e
n
a

n
c
y
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
. 

 
          T

h
e
 d

ra
ft

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 h

a
s
 

b
e

e
n
 a

m
e
n

d
e
d
 t

o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 

th
e
 M

a
y
o

r’
s
 c

o
m

m
e
n
t 

w
it
h
 r

e
g

a
rd

 t
o
 t
h

e
 

13



 
8
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 Q
u

e
s
ti

o
n

 
S

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
  

  

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
  

m
o
v
e
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
m

o
v
e
s
 

s
c
h
e
m

e
 i
n
 w

h
ic

h
 H

a
rr

o
w

 i
s
 

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
n
g
. 

 

H
o
u
s
in

g
m

o
v
e
s
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 

   

1
. 
D

o
 y

o
u
 a

g
re

e
 w

it
h
 

O
p
ti
o

n
 1

 t
h

a
t 
lif

e
ti
m

e
 

te
n
a
n
c
ie

s
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 

o
ff

e
re

d
 t

o
 t
h
e
 s

p
e
c
if
ie

d
 

n
e
w

 t
e
n

a
n
ts

 a
n

d
 f

ix
e
d
 

te
rm

 t
e
n
a

n
c
ie

s
 t
o
 

e
v
e

ry
o
n
e
 e

ls
e
 O

R
 O

p
ti
o
n
 

2
 t
h
a
t 

m
o
s
t 
n

e
w

 
te

n
a
n
c
ie

s
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 f

ix
e
d
 

te
rm

 b
u
t 

th
e
re

 w
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

a
u
to

m
a
ti
c
 r

e
n

e
w

a
l 
in

 
s
o
m

e
 c

ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
?
 

 

4
8
%

 o
f 

th
e
 r

e
s
p

o
n
d
e

n
ts

 a
g
re

e
d
 w

it
h
 

O
p
ti
o

n
 2

, 
3
4

%
 w

it
h
 O

p
ti
o
n
 1

 a
n
d
 1

8
%

 
w

e
re

 n
o
t 
s
u
re

. 
T

h
e
 V

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 S

e
c
to

r 
F

o
ru

m
 t

h
o
u

g
h
t 
th

a
t 

O
p
ti
o
n
 1

 w
a
s
 t

h
e
 

s
im

p
le

s
t 

a
n
d
 c

o
n
s
id

e
rs

 t
h
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
th

e
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 b
u
t 
th

a
t 
O

p
ti
o

n
 2

 w
o
u
ld

 
b
e
 a

d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
v
e
ly

 e
a
s
ie

r 
to

 r
u
n
. 

C
a
re

le
a
v
e
rs

 s
h
o

u
ld

 a
ls

o
 b

e
 o

ff
e
re

d
 l
if
e
 

ti
m

e
 t

e
n
a
n
c
ie

s
 o

r 
a

u
to

m
a
ti
c
 r

e
n
e
w

a
l 
a
s
 

th
e
 u

n
c
e
rt

a
in

ty
 o

f 
a
 f

ix
e
d
 t

e
rm

 t
e
n
a
n
c
y
 

m
a
y
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
ili

ty
 f

o
r 

th
is

 
p
ri
o
ri
ty

 n
e
e
d
 g

ro
u
p
. 

 H
A

 r
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
 –

 A
ll 

a
g
re

e
 w

it
h
 o

p
ti
o
n
 2

. 
 H

L
C

 r
e
s
p

o
n
s
e
: 

N
o
 d

if
fe

re
n
c
e
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 

th
e
 2

 o
p
ti
o

n
s
. 

 T
h
e
 G

L
A

 p
re

fe
r 

o
p
ti
o
n
 1

 “
b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 i
t 

m
o
re

 c
le

a
rl

y
 a

rt
ic

u
la

te
s
 o

u
r 

s
h
a
re

d
 a

im
 

o
f 

p
ro

v
id

in
g
 s

e
c
u
ri

ty
 a

n
d
 c

e
rt

a
in

ty
 f

o
r 

v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
” 

  

 
C

a
re

L
e
a
v
e

rs
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e

n
 

a
d

d
e

d
 t
o
 t
h

e
 s

p
e
c
if
ie

d
 

g
ro

u
p
s
 t
o
 b

e
 g

iv
e
n
 f

ix
e
d
 

te
rm

 f
le

x
ib

le
 t
e
n
a
n
c
ie

s
  

w
it
h
 a

u
to

m
a
ti
c
 r

e
n
e

w
a
l.
 

         T
a
k
in

g
 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
th

e
 

lo
w

 s
u
p

p
ly

 o
f 

s
o
c
ia

l 
h
o

u
s
in

g
 i
n
 H

a
rr

o
w

 (
1
0

%
 

c
o
m

p
a
re

d
 t

o
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 

a
v
e

ra
g
e
 o

f 
2
4

%
) 

w
e
  

h
a
v
e
 d

e
c
id

e
d
 t

h
a
t 

O
p
ti
o

n
 2

 i
s
 t

h
e
 o

n
e
 t
h
a
t 

w
ill

 e
n
s
u
re

 i
t 
is

 t
a
rg

e
te

d
 

a
t 

th
o
s
e
 w

h
o
 a

re
 m

o
s
t 

in
 n

e
e

d
 w

h
ils

t 
p
ro

v
id

in
g
 

s
e
c
u
ri

ty
 a

n
d
 c

e
rt

a
in

ty
 

14



 
9
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 Q
u

e
s
ti

o
n

 
S

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
  

  

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
  

fo
r 

v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 
h
o

u
s
e

h
o
ld

s
. 

F
o
r 

e
x
a
m

p
le

 w
e
 d

o
 h

a
v
e
 

e
v
id

e
n
c
e
 t

h
a
t 
o
v
e
r 

ti
m

e
 

h
o

u
s
e

h
o
ld

 c
o
m

p
o
s
it
io

n
 

c
h
a

n
g

e
s
 a

s
 c

h
ild

re
n
 

m
o
v
e
 o

u
t 
o
r 

fa
m

ily
 

re
la

ti
o
n
s
h
ip

s
 b

re
a
k
 

d
o

w
n
 m

e
a

n
in

g
 t

h
a
t 

s
o
m

e
 s

o
c
ia

l 
re

n
te

d
 

h
o
m

e
s
 t
h

a
t 

a
re

 s
p
e
c
ia

lly
 

a
d

a
p
te

d
 o

r 
p
u
rp

o
s
e
 b

u
ilt

 
fo

r 
p
e
o

p
le

 w
it
h
 

d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e
s
 a

re
 n

o
 l
o
n

g
e
r 

b
e
in

g
 o

c
c
u
p
ie

d
 b

y
 

p
e

o
p
le

 w
it
h
 d

is
a

b
ili

ti
e
s
. 

 

2
. 
D

o
 y

o
u
 a

g
re

e
 t

h
a
t 
a
 

m
in

im
u
m

 5
 y

e
a
r 

fi
x
e
d
 

te
rm

 t
e
n
a

n
c
y
 i
s
 

re
a
s
o
n
a
b
le

?
 

        

6
1
%

 o
f 

re
s
p
o
n

d
e
n
ts

 a
g
re

e
d
 t

h
a
t 
a
 5

 
y
e
a

r 
fi
x
e
d
 t
e
rm

 t
e
n
a
n
c
y
 i
s
 r

e
a
s
o
n
a
b
le

, 
3
3
%

 s
a
id

 n
o
 a

n
d
 5

%
 w

e
re

 n
o
t 
s
u
re

. 
T

h
e
 V

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 S

e
c
to

r 
F

o
ru

m
 a

g
re

e
d
 

th
a
t 

5
 y

e
a
rs

 i
s
 r

e
a
s
o
n

a
b
le

 a
n

d
 f

e
lt
 t

h
a
t 

5
 y

e
a
rs

 i
s
 a

n
 o

p
ti
m

u
m

 t
e
n

a
n
c
y
 l
e
n
g
th

 
fo

r 
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 o

f 
th

e
 p

ro
p
e
rt

y
. 

 
 H

A
 r

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
: 

N
o
t 
re

n
e

w
in

g
 t

e
n

a
n
c
ie

s
 

d
u
e
 t
o
 h

o
u
s
e

h
o
ld

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 m

a
y
 b

e
 a

 
d
is

in
c
e
n
ti
v
e
 t

o
 t

e
n
a
n
ts

 w
is

h
in

g
 t

o
 b

e
tt

e
r 

th
e
m

s
e
lv

e
s
. 
 

“2
 y

e
a
r 

te
n
a
n
c
y
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 

a
 m

in
im

u
m

. 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 a

 
s
te

p
p
in

g
 s

to
n
e
 t
o
 a

s
s
is

t,
 

n
o
t 

th
e
re

 f
o
r 

a
 l
if
e
ti
m

e
 

g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o

n
 a

ft
e
r 

g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o

n
. 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ts

 
s
h
o

u
ld

 a
c
ti
v
e
ly

 b
e
 

e
n
c
o
u

ra
g

e
d
 t
o
 f

in
d
 

h
o
u
s
in

g
” 

 “y
e
s
, 

it
 w

ill
 g

iv
e
 m

o
re

 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 r

e
s
p
o

n
s
e
s
 

s
u
p

p
o

rt
 a

 m
in

im
u
m

 5
 

y
e
a

r 
te

n
a

n
c
y
. 
  

         

15



 
1
0
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 Q
u

e
s
ti

o
n

 
S

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
  

  

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
  

             A
re

 t
h
e
re

 a
n
y
 o

th
e
r 

e
x
c
e
p
ti
o
n

a
l 

c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 w

h
ic

h
 a

 
2
 y

e
a
r 

te
n
a

n
c
y
 m

ig
h
t 

b
e
 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 e
g
 a

w
a
it
in

g
 a

 
c
a
s
h
 s

e
tt
le

m
e
n
t 

w
h
ic

h
 

w
h
e
n
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
d
 w

o
u
ld

 
e
n
a
b
le

 t
h
e
 a

p
p
lic

a
n
t 
to

 
fi
n
d
 s

u
it
a
b
le

 
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d

a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 

p
ri
v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r?
 

 H
L
C

 d
o
 n

o
t 

a
g
re

e
 w

it
h
 f

ix
e
d
 t

e
rm

 
te

n
a
n
c
ie

s
 o

n
 t

h
e
 b

a
s
is

 t
h
a
t 

s
e
c
u
ri

ty
 o

f 
te

n
u
re

 p
ro

v
id

e
s
 a

 s
e
tt

le
d
 h

o
m

e
 a

n
d
 

lif
e
s
ty

le
. 

D
a
n
g
e
r 

o
f 

c
re

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
g
h
e
tt
o

e
s
 

fi
lle

d
 w

it
h
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

, 
p
o
o
r,

 
m

a
rg

in
a
lis

e
d
 p

e
o
p
le

 a
s
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 

m
a
d
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 t

h
e
ir
 l
iv

e
s
 (

e
.g

. 
c
a
re

e
r)

 a
re

 m
o
v
e

d
 o

u
t.

 H
o
u
s
in

g
 s

u
p
p
ly

 
w

ill
 n

o
t 
c
h
a
n
g

e
 u

n
d
e
r 

th
e
 n

e
w

 
p
ro

p
o
s
a
ls

. 
  M

o
s
t 

p
e
o
p
le

 a
g
re

e
d
 t
h

a
t 

a
 2

 y
e
a

r 
te

n
a
n
c
y
 i
s
 a

n
 a

b
s
o
lu

te
 m

in
im

u
m

. 
 H

A
 r

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
: 
E

x
c
e
p
ti
o
n
a
l 

c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
 m

a
y
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 s

e
ri
o
u
s
 

h
o
u
s
e

h
o
ld

 a
rr

e
a
rs

, 
A

S
B

, 
p
o
o
r 

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 

u
p
k
e
e

p
, 

s
e
ri

o
u
s
 b

re
a
c
h
 o

f 
te

n
a

n
c
y
 

c
o
n

d
it
io

n
s
. 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
 t

o
 p

e
o
p
le

 t
o
 

a
c
tu

a
lly

 l
o
o
k
 f

o
r 

b
e
tt
e
r 

p
u
rp

o
s
e
 o

f 
lif

e
 a

n
d
 t

a
k
e
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
ib

ili
ty

” 
 “P

la
n
n
in

g
 s

c
h

o
o
l 

a
p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
s
, 
c
h
ild

c
a
re

, 
re

la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip

s
 e

tc
 a

re
 

im
p
o
s
s
ib

le
 i
f 

y
o
u
 d

o
 n

o
t 

k
n
o

w
 w

h
e
re

 y
o
u
 w

ill
 l
iv

e
 

b
e
y
o
n

d
 5

 y
rs

” 
  

            W
e
 d

o
 n

o
t 
b

e
lie

v
e
 i
t 

a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 t
o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 

th
e
s
e
 a

s
 e

x
c
e
p
ti
o
n

a
l 

c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
. 
T

h
e
s
e
 

s
h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 d

e
a
lt
 w

it
h
 a

s
 

p
a

rt
 o

f 
n
o
rm

a
l 
te

n
a

n
c
y
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

p
ro

c
e
d
u
re

s
 a

n
d
 s

h
o
u
ld

 
b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u

n
t 

in
 

d
e
c
id

in
g
 w

h
e
th

e
r 

to
 

re
n
e

w
 a

 t
e
n
a
n
c
y
 o

r 
n

o
t.
 

3
. 
A

re
 t

h
e
re

 a
n

y
 o

th
e
r 

c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
 i
n
 w

h
ic

h
 a

 
d
is

c
re

ti
o
n

a
ry

 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
io

n
 

s
h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
?
 

 

T
h
e

re
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 d

is
c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 
s
u
c
c
e
s
s
io

n
 t
o
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 d
e
p

e
n
d
e

n
ts

 
e
g
 s

o
m

e
o
n
e
 w

h
o
 i
s
 o

ld
e
r,

 h
a
s
 

d
is

a
b
ili

ti
e
s
 e

s
p
e
c
ia

lly
 w

h
e

re
 t

h
e
 

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 a

d
a
p
te

d
 t

o
 m

e
e
t 

 “Y
e
s
. 
I 

b
e
lie

v
e
 

d
is

c
re

ti
o
n

a
ry

 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
io

n
 

s
h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 g

ra
n
te

d
 t
o
 

v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 d
e
p

e
n

d
e
n
ts

.”
 

T
h
e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 a

s
 d

ra
ft

e
d
 

w
o
u
ld

 a
llo

w
 f

o
r 

a
 f

a
m

ily
 

m
e
m

b
e
r 

w
h

o
 h

a
s
 l
iv

e
d
 

in
 t
h
e
 h

o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

 f
o
r 

a
t 

le
a
s
t 

5
 y

e
a
rs

 t
o
 s

u
c
c
e
e

d
 

16



 
1
1
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 Q
u

e
s
ti

o
n

 
S

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
  

  

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
  

th
e
s
e
 n

e
e
d
s
. 
T

h
e
 V

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 S

e
c
to

r 
F

o
ru

m
 t

h
o
u

g
h
t 
th

a
t 

c
a
re

rs
 s

h
o
u
ld

 h
a
v
e
 

d
is

c
re

ti
o
n

a
ry

 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
io

n
 i
f 

th
e

y
 a

re
 

liv
in

g
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 p

e
rs

o
n
 t

h
e

y
 a

re
 c

a
ri

n
g
 

fo
r.

 I
f 
th

e
 c

a
re

r 
c
a
n

n
o
t 
b
e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 

fo
r 

d
is

c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
io

n
, 

th
e
n
 t
h
e
y
 

s
h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 t

o
 f

in
d
 a

lt
e
rn

a
ti
v
e
 

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

 H
A

 r
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
: 

S
u

g
g

e
s
te

d
 c

ri
te

ri
a
 f

o
r 

s
u
c
c
e
s
s
io

n
 i
s
 n

a
rr

o
w

. 
 H

L
C

 r
e
s
p

o
n
s
e
: 

D
is

c
re

ti
o
n
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 

e
x
te

n
d
e

d
 t

o
 n

o
n
-s

ta
tu

to
ry

 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
o
rs

 
e
.g

. 
c
a
re

rs
 w

h
o
 g

a
v
e
 u

p
 

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 t

o
 c

a
re

 f
o
r 

a
 t

e
n

a
n
t 
fo

r 
a
 m

in
im

u
m

 o
f 

1
2
 m

o
n
th

s
. 

 “i
f 

th
e
 t

e
n

a
n
t 
is

 o
ld

e
r 

a
n
d
 

le
s
s
 a

b
le

” 
 “N

o
. 
In

d
iv

id
u
a
l 
m

e
ri
t.

 
E

a
c
h
 c

a
s
e
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 

lo
o
k
e

d
 a

t 
a

n
d
 a

 d
e
c
is

io
n
 

m
a
d
e
” 

to
 t
h
e
 t

e
n

a
n
c
y
 i
f 
it
 i
s
 t
h
e
 

ri
g
h
t 

s
iz

e
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 f

a
m

ily
 

m
e
m

b
e
r 

c
a

n
n

o
t 

a
ff

o
rd

 
e
it
h
e
r 

s
h
a
re

d
 o

w
n

e
rs

h
ip

 
o
r 

p
ri

v
a
te

 r
e
n
t.

 I
f 

th
e
 

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 i
s
 t

o
o
 b

ig
 f

o
r 

th
e
 f

a
m

ily
 m

e
m

b
e

r 
th

e
n
 

th
e
y
 w

o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

s
k
e
d
 t
o

 
m

o
v
e
 t

o
 s

u
it
a
b
ly

 s
iz

e
d
 

h
o

u
s
in

g
. 
T

h
is

 w
o

u
ld

 
c
o
v
e
r 

th
e
 s

it
u
a
ti
o

n
 o

f 
a
n
 

o
ld

e
r 

a
n
d
/o

r 
v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 
fa

m
ily

 m
e
m

b
e
r 

p
ro

v
id

e
d
 

th
e
y
 h

a
v
e
 l
iv

e
d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 f

o
r 

a
t 

le
a
s
t 
5
 

y
e
a

rs
. 

In
 o

u
r 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 

th
e
 o

c
c
u

p
a

n
c
y
 h

a
s
 

u
s
u

a
lly

 b
e

e
n
 f

o
r 

lo
n
g
e
r 

th
a
n
 5

 y
e

a
rs

 i
n
 t

h
e
 c

a
s
e
 

o
f 

a
n
 e

ld
e
rl

y
 p

a
re

n
t 

a
n
d
 

o
ld

e
r 

c
h
ild

. 
 T

h
e
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n

 
a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 

a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

o
f 

fu
ll 

ti
m

e
 

c
a
re

rs
 w

h
o
 m

a
y
 n

o
t 

h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 f

a
m

ily
 

m
e
m

b
e
rs

, 
p
ro

v
id

e
d
 t

h
e

y
 

a
re

 n
o
t 

e
m

p
lo

y
e

d
 i
n
 t

h
is

 

17



 
1
2
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 Q
u

e
s
ti

o
n

 
S

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
  

  

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
  

ro
le

. 
 

4
. 
Is

 t
h
e
re

 a
n
y
th

in
g
 e

ls
e
 

th
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 w

h
e
n
 

d
e
c
id

in
g
 w

h
e
th

e
r 

to
 

re
n
e

w
 a

 t
e

n
a

n
c
y
?
 

                      

T
h
e
 p

ri
n
c
ip

le
s
 t
o
 b

e
 t
a

k
e
n
 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u

n
t 

w
h
e
n
 r

e
v
ie

w
in

g
 t

e
n
a
n
c
ie

s
 w

e
re

 
g
e
n
e
ra

ll
y
 a

g
re

e
d
. 

S
tr

o
n
g
 r

e
s
p
o

n
s
e
s
 

w
e
re

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
d
 w

it
h
 r

e
g
a
rd

 t
o
 k

e
e
p
in

g
 

u
p
 t

o
 d

a
te

 w
it
h
 r

e
n
t 

p
a

y
m

e
n
ts

, 
k
e
e
p
in

g
 

th
e
 p

ro
p
e
rt

y
 i
n
 a

n
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 c
o
n
d
it
io

n
 

a
n
d
 n

o
t 

c
o
m

m
it
ti
n
g
 a

n
ti
 s

o
c
ia

l 
b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

o
r 

c
ri

m
in

a
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
. 
O

th
e
r 

c
o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n
 s

u
g
g
e
s
te

d
 a

n
d
 n

o
t 

c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 i
n
c
lu

d
e

d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 d

ra
ft

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
 

w
e
re

 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
. 

 H
A

 r
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
: 

R
e
n
e

w
a
l 
s
h
o
u
ld

 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 

c
o
n

n
e
c
ti
o

n
 t

o
 a

re
a
 a

n
d
 f

a
m

ily
 n

e
e
d
s
 

e
.g

. 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
. 

 H
L
C

 r
e
s
p

o
n
s
e
: 

A
d
m

in
 b

u
rd

e
n
 a

n
d
 

c
o
s
ts

 w
o

u
ld

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 a

n
d
 a

n
 i
n
tr

u
s
io

n
 

in
to

 t
e
n
a
n
t 

a
ff

a
ir
s
. 
E

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

in
s
ta

b
ili

ty
 w

ill
 a

ff
e
c
t 

re
v
ie

w
. 

“T
h
e
re

 m
a
y
 

b
e
 l
it
tl
e
 i
n
c
e
n
ti
v
e
 f

o
r 

a
 t

e
n

a
n
t 

w
it
h
 a

 
fi
x
e
d
 t
e
rm

 t
e
n
a

n
c
y
 t

o
 i
n
v
e
s
t 
in

 t
h
e
ir
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
” 

 G
L
A

: 
“T

h
e
 M

a
y
o

r 
b
e
lie

v
e
s
, 

th
a
t 

w
h
e

n
 

a
llo

c
a
ti
n
g
 s

o
c
ia

l 
h
o

u
s
in

g
, 

b
o
ro

u
g
h
s
 

c
o
u
ld

 s
e
e
k
 t

o
 g

iv
e
 s

o
m

e
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

“I
f 

th
e
y
 a

re
 i
n
 r

e
n
t 
/ 

c
o
u

n
c
il 

ta
x
 a

rr
e

a
rs

, 
n
o
is

y
 

n
e
ig

h
b
o

u
r,

 p
ro

p
e

rt
y
 k

e
p
t 

in
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

b
le

 c
o
n
d
it
io

n
. 
If

 
c
h
ild

re
n
 t
u

rn
 1

8
 a

n
d
 a

re
 

e
m

p
lo

y
e

d
 t

h
e
y
 s

h
o

u
ld

 b
e
 

in
c
lu

d
e

d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 r

e
n
t 

re
 

w
h
a
t 

is
 d

u
e
” 

 “G
o
o
d
 b

e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

a
n
d
 c

o
-

o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 

la
n
d
lo

rd
 a

n
d
 o

th
e
r 

te
n
a
n
ts

. 
C

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t

o
 

th
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
re

a
 s

u
c
h
 a

s
 

jo
in

in
g
 t

e
n

a
n
ts

 
c
o
m

m
it
te

e
s
 e

tc
” 

 “h
o
w

 t
h
e
 t
e
n
a

n
t 

h
a
s
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
 t

h
e
 f

la
t 

o
r 

h
o

u
s
e
, 

p
a
y
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

re
n
t 

a
n

d
 a

ls
o
 

if
 t
h
e
re

 h
a
s
 b

e
e

n
 a

 
c
o
m

p
la

in
 a

b
o
u
t 
th

e
 

te
n
a
n
t”

 
 “Y

e
s
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 

in
c
o
m

e
, 

I 
k
n
o

w
 a

 l
o
t 
o
f 

p
e
o

p
le

 o
n
 

v
e
ry

 g
o
o
d
 s

a
la

ri
e
s
 w

h
o

 

T
h
e
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n

 
a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o

n
 

in
 t
h
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
, 

a
lt
h
o
u

g
h
 t
h
is

 w
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 

o
v
e

rr
id

e
 f

o
r 

e
x
a
m

p
le

 t
h

e
 

n
e

e
d
 t

o
 m

o
v
e
 p

e
o
p
le

 
w

h
o
 a

re
 l
iv

in
g
 i
n
 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 t

h
a
t 
a
re

 n
o

w
 

to
o
 b

ig
 f

o
r 

th
e
ir
 n

e
e
d
s
. 

      W
e
 b

e
lie

v
e
 t
h

a
t 

th
e
 

re
v
ie

w
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 c

a
n
 b

e
 a

 
p
o
s
it
iv

e
 o

n
e
 f

o
r 

b
o
th

 t
h

e
 

te
n
a
n
t 

a
n

d
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

to
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 

a
s
p
ir
a
ti
o

n
s
 f

o
r 

e
x
a
m

p
le

 
to

 h
o
m

e
 o

w
n
e
rs

h
ip

 a
s
 

w
e
ll 

a
s
 p

ro
v
id

e
 a

d
v
ic

e
 

a
n

d
 a

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 

re
g
a
rd

 t
o
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

o
r 

tr
a
in

in
g
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
. 

18



 
1
3
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 Q
u

e
s
ti

o
n

 
S

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
  

  

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
  

                    D
o
 y

o
u
 a

g
re

e
 w

it
h
 t
h

e
 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 a

n
d
 

s
a
v
in

g
s
 c

a
p

?
 

      

p
ri
o
ri
ty

 t
o
 p

e
o

p
le

 w
h
o
 m

a
k
e
 a

n
 a

c
ti
v
e
 

a
n
d
 p

o
s
it
iv

e
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o

n
 t

o
 t

h
e
ir

 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 e

g
 –

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 e

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

o
r 

v
o
lu

n
te

e
ri
n

g
 –

 a
n

d
 w

h
o
 m

a
y
 a

ls
o
 

fa
c
e
 b

a
rr

ie
rs

 t
o
 a

c
c
e
s
s
in

g
 s

u
it
a
b
le

 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 i
n
 o

th
e
r 

te
n

u
re

s
. 
It

 m
ig

h
t 

b
e
 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 t
h
is

 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o

u
n
t 

w
h
e
n
 d

e
te

rm
in

in
g
 w

h
e

th
e
r 

a
 t
e

n
a

n
c
y
 i
s
 

re
n
e

w
e
d
 o

r 
n
o
t,

 a
s
 w

e
ll 

a
s
 t

h
e
 f

a
c
to

rs
 

s
e
t 

o
u
t 
in

 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 7

. 
             4
5
%

 a
g
re

e
d
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 

a
n
d
 s

a
v
in

g
s
 c

a
p
, 
2

6
%

 d
id

 n
o
t 

a
n

d
 3

0
%

 
w

e
re

 n
o
t 
s
u
re

. 
T

h
e
 V

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 s

e
c
to

r 
fo

ru
m

 t
h
o
u
g
h
t 

th
a
t 

th
e
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 c

a
p
 w

a
s
 

re
a
s
o
n
a

b
le

 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s

a
v
in

g
s
 c

a
p
 c

o
u
ld

 
b
e
 c

o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 g

e
n
e
ro

u
s
. 

a
re

 s
ti
ll 

in
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 v

e
ry

 
u
n
fa

ir
, 

th
e
y
 c

a
n
 e

a
s
ily

 
a
ff

o
rd

 t
o
 p

ri
v
a
te

ly
 r

e
n
t.

” 
 “P

e
o
p
le

 s
h
o
u
ld

 h
a
v
e
 t
h

e
 

n
e
e
d
 t

o
 f

e
e
l 
s
e
c
u
re

 i
n
 

th
e
ir

 h
o
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 n

o
t 

h
a

v
e
 

to
 w

o
rr

y
 a

b
o
u
t 
m

o
v
in

g
 

w
h
e
n
 b

e
in

g
 p

la
c
e
d
 i
n
 a

 
s
e
m

i 
p
e
rm

a
n

e
n
t 
p

ro
p

e
rt

y
, 

b
u
t 

I 
s
ti
ll 

fe
e
l 
lik

e
 

s
o
m

e
th

in
g
 n

e
e

d
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

d
o
n
e
 a

b
o

u
t 

fa
m

ili
e
s
 t
h
a
t 

h
a
v
e
 n

o
 i
n
te

n
ti
o
n
 o

f 
s
e
lf
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t,
 w

o
rk

in
g
, 

v
o
lu

n
te

e
ri
n

g
, 
o
r 

s
u
p

p
o

rt
in

g
 t
h

e
 a

re
a
. 

  “O
n
c
e
 p

e
o

p
le

 e
a
rn

 o
v
e

r 
2
6
k
, 
th

e
y
 s

h
o
u
ld

 f
in

d
 t
h
e
ir

 
o

w
n
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
If

 
th

e
y
 s

ti
ll 

c
a
n
n

o
t 

a
ff

o
rd

 t
o
 

m
o
v
e
 t
h
e
n
 a

t 
le

a
s
t 

d
o
w

n
s
iz

e
 t
h

e
ir

 
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d

a
ti
o
n
 o

r 
m

a
k
e
 

th
e
m

 s
h
a
re

 w
it
h
 p

e
o
p
le

 
w

h
o
 d

o
 n

e
e
d
 t
h
is

 

 T
h
e
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n

 
a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 

a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

o
f 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 

re
v
ie

w
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
. 

              W
e
 h

a
v
e
 r

e
v
is

e
d
 a

n
d
 

re
d
u
c
e
d
 t

h
e
 p

ro
p

o
s
e
d
 

in
c
o
m

e
 l
im

it
s
 t
a
k
in

g
 

a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

o
f 

lo
c
a
l 

in
c
o
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 t
a
x
 

c
h
a

n
g

e
s
. 
T

h
e

y
 w

ill
 b

e
 

th
e
 s

a
m

e
 a

s
 t

h
a
t 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 f

o
r 

th
e
 n

e
w

 
a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 s

c
h

e
m

e
 a

n
d
 

19



 
1
4
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 Q
u

e
s
ti

o
n

 
S

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
  

  

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
  

                           W
o
u
ld

 i
t 

b
e
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 
to

 r
e

n
e

w
 t

e
n
a

n
c
ie

s
 f

o
r 

 H
A

 r
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
: 
T

h
e
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
ili

ty
 

fi
g
u
re

s
 w

ill
 n

e
e
d
 m

o
n
it
o
ri

n
g
 b

o
th

 i
n
 t

h
e
 

re
n
ta

l 
a
n

d
 p

u
rc

h
a
s
e
 s

e
c
to

r,
 a

s
 p

ri
c
e
s
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u

e
 t

o
 r

is
e
 f

a
s
te

r 
th

a
n
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 i
n
 

th
is

 r
e
g
io

n
. 

 G
L
A

: 
N

o
te

 t
h

e
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 l
im

it
 a

n
d
 

c
o
m

m
e
n
t 
th

a
t 
it
 w

ill
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 b

e
 k

e
p
t 

u
n
d
e
r 

c
o

n
s
ta

n
t 

re
v
ie

w
 s

o
 t
h
a
t 

it
 t

a
k
e
s
 

a
c
c
o

u
n
t 

o
f 

th
e
 r

e
la

ti
v
e
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
ili

ty
 o

f 
o
th

e
r 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 H

a
rr

o
w

, 
p
a
rt

ic
u
la

rl
y
 t

h
e
 M

a
y
o

r’
s
 F

IR
S

T
 S

T
E

P
S

 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
. 

               

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d

a
ti
o
n
.”

 
 “T

h
e
 m

a
x
im

u
m

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 

lim
it
s
 d

o
 n

o
t 
ta

k
e
 a

c
c
o

u
n
t 

o
f 

p
a
s
t 
d
e
b
ts

, 
p
re

v
io

u
s
 

c
o
m

m
it
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 l
o
c
a
l 

h
o
u
s
e
 p

ri
c
e
s
. 
A

n
y
 t

w
o
 

p
a
re

n
t 

fa
m

ily
 e

a
rn

in
g
 a

 
h
o
u
s
e

h
o
ld

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 o

f 
£
4
5
,0

0
0
 p

a
 c

o
u
ld

 n
o
t 

a
ff

o
rd

 t
o
 b

u
y
 a

 h
o
m

e
 i
n

 
P

in
n
e
r 

a
n

d
 t

h
e
re

fo
re

 b
o
th

 
p
a
re

n
ts

 w
o

rk
in

g
 w

o
u
ld

 
o
n
ly

 c
re

a
te

 a
 s

it
u
a
ti
o
n
 

w
h
e
re

 t
h
e
y
 w

e
re

 w
o
rs

e
 

o
ff

 t
h
a
n
 s

o
m

e
o
n

e
 w

h
o
 

c
h
o
s
e
 t
o
 s

ta
y
 a

t 
h
o
m

e
 

w
h
ile

 t
h
e
ir
 p

a
rt

n
e
r 

w
o
rk

e
d
 

s
o
 t

h
e
ir
 r

e
n
t 
re

m
a
in

e
d
 t

h
e
 

s
a
m

e
. 
W

h
e
re

 i
s
 t

h
e
 

in
c
e
n
ti
v
e
 t
o
 g

e
t 
o
ff

 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts

 i
f 

y
o
u
 h

a
v
e
 t

o
 

w
o
rr

y
 t

h
a
t 

y
o

u
 m

a
y
 e

a
rn

 
"t

o
o
 m

u
c
h
" 

to
 t

ry
 t

o
 s

a
v
e
 

fo
r 

a
n
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

d
 f

u
tu

re
. 

“ 

w
ill

 b
e
 s

u
b
je

c
t 

to
 f

u
rt

h
e

r 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 b

e
fo

re
 a

 
fi
n
a
l 
d
e
c
is

io
n
 i
s
 m

a
d
e
. 

W
e
 a

re
 a

ls
o
 p

ro
p
o
s
in

g
 

to
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h

e
 

a
s
s
e
ts

/s
a
v
in

g
s
 c

a
p
 t

o
 

£
2

4
k
 w

h
ic

h
 w

ill
 a

ls
o
 b

e
 

s
u
b
je

c
t 

to
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
. 

  T
h
e
 d

ra
ft

 s
tr

a
te

g
y
 

a
lr

e
a

d
y
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
s
 a

n
 

a
n

n
u

a
l 
re

v
ie

w
 w

h
ic

h
 w

ill
 

in
c
lu

d
e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
th

e
 

in
c
o
m

e
 l
im

it
 a

n
d
 t
h
is

 
c
a
n
 b

e
 d

o
n

e
 i
n
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 

th
e
 M

a
y
o

rs
 o

w
n
 r

e
v
ie

w
 

o
f 

in
c
o
m

e
 c

ri
te

ri
a
 f

o
r 

th
e
  

F
IR

S
T

 S
T

E
P

S
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 (

w
h
ic

h
 i
n
 

o
u

r 
e
x
p
e
ri
e

n
c
e
 i
s
 d

o
n
e

 
a
t 

th
e
 m

o
s
t 

a
n
n

u
a
lly

).
 

      

20



 
1
5
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 Q
u

e
s
ti

o
n

 
S

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
  

  

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
  

h
o
u
s
e

h
o
ld

s
 w

h
o
 c

o
u
ld

 
a
ff

o
rd

 t
o
 m

o
v
e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 

th
e
y
 s

ti
ll 

n
e
e
d
e
d
 t
h

e
 

s
a
m

e
 s

iz
e
 o

f 
p
ro

p
e
rt

y
 

a
n
d
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 r

e
n
t 
u

p
 

to
 t
h
e
 m

a
x
im

u
m

 
A

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 R
e
n
ts

 s
e
t 

o
u
t 

in
 o

u
r 

g
u
id

a
n
c
e

?
 

 

 4
1
%

 a
g
re

e
d
 w

it
h
 t

h
is

 p
ro

p
o
s
a
l,
 4

2
%

 
d
id

 n
o
t 

a
n
d
 1

6
%

 w
e

re
 n

o
t 
s
u
re

 
     

      T
h
is

 c
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

a
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
v
e
ly

 
c
o
m

p
lic

a
te

d
 t
o
 

a
d
m

in
is

te
r 

a
n

d
 m

a
y
 

re
s
u
lt
 i
n
 l
a
rg

e
r 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
in

g
 t

o
 

b
e
 u

n
d

e
ro

c
c
u

p
ie

d
 a

n
d
 

in
 v

ie
w

 o
f 

th
e
 u

n
c
le

a
r 

s
u
p

p
o

rt
 i
s
 n

o
t 
in

c
lu

d
e

d
 

in
 t
h
e
 f

in
a
l 
s
tr

a
te

g
y
. 

 

5
. 
D

o
 y

o
u
 a

g
re

e
 w

it
h
 o

u
r 

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 a

d
v
ic

e
 a

n
d
 

a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 i
f 

a
 t

e
n
a
n
c
y
 i
s
 

n
o
t 

to
 b

e
 r

e
n
e

w
e
d
?
 

 

6
5
%

 a
g
re

e
d
 w

it
h
 o

u
r 

a
p
p

ro
a
c
h
 t

o
 

a
d
v
ic

e
 a

n
d
 a

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
, 

1
3
%

 d
id

 n
o
t 

a
n
d
 2

1
%

 w
e
re

 n
o
t 

s
u
re

. 
A

d
v
o
c
a
c
y
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 o

ff
e
re

d
 t

o
 s

u
p
p

o
rt

 
C

a
re

L
e
a
v
e
rs

 d
u
ri

n
g
 t

h
e
 t

e
n

a
n
c
y
 r

e
v
ie

w
 

p
ro

c
e
s
s
 i
f 

th
e
y
 a

re
 t

o
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
 f

ix
e
d
 t
e
rm

 
te

n
a
n
c
ie

s
. 

 H
A

 r
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
: 
R

e
a
s
o
n
a
b
le

 a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
. 

 
T

h
e
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 s

u
p

p
o
rt

 o
u
r 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 

a
d
v
ic

e
 a

n
d
 a

s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
. 

T
h
e
 o

ff
e
r 

o
f 

a
d
v
o
c
a
c
y
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 t

o
 C

a
re

L
e
a
v
e
rs

 
o
r 

a
n

y
 o

th
e

r 
v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 
g
ro

u
p
s
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 

in
c
lu

d
e
d
 i
n
 t

h
e
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
. 

6
. 
D

o
 y

o
u
 a

g
re

e
 w

it
h
 o

u
r 

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 A

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 
R

e
n
ts

?
 

6
5
%

 a
g
re

e
 w

it
h
 o

u
r 

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t

o
 

A
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 R
e
n
ts

, 
2
1

%
 d

id
 n

o
t 

a
n
d
 1

3
%

 
w

e
re

 n
o
t 
s
u
re

. 

 
T

h
e
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
e
s
 s

u
p

p
o
rt

 o
u
r 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 

21



 
1
6
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 Q
u

e
s
ti

o
n

 
S

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
  

  

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
  

 
 H

A
 r

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
: 

A
p

p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 a

ff
o
rd

a
b
le

 
re

n
ts

 i
s
 f
a
ir
. 

H
A

 a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 i
s
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 

p
a
ra

m
e
te

rs
 s

u
g
g
e
s
te

d
. 

  H
L
C

 r
e
s
p

o
n
s
e
: 

H
o
m

e
le

s
s
 h

o
u
s
e

h
o
ld

s
 

in
 h

o
m

e
s
 a

t 
a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 r
e

n
ts

 w
ill

 a
c
t 

a
s
 

a
 d

is
in

c
e
n
ti
v
e
 t

o
 h

o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
 f

ro
m

 
g
o
in

g
 i
n
to

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t.

 
 G

L
A

: 
E

x
p

e
c
ts

 b
o
ro

u
g
h
s
 t

o
 m

a
x
im

is
e
 

th
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 

A
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 H
o

u
s
in

g
 

th
ro

u
g
h
 t

h
e
ir
 p

la
n
n
in

g
 a

n
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 

p
o
lic

ie
s
 a

n
d
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 
a

c
c
e
p
t 

th
is

 c
a
n
 

b
e
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 b

y
 s

e
tt
in

g
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 r
e
n
t 

c
a
p
s
 i
n
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 p

o
lic

ie
s
 o

r 
te

n
a
n
c
y
 s

tr
a
te

g
ie

s
. 

 

A
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 R
e
n
ts

 
         H

a
rr

o
w

 h
a
s
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e

n
 

a
 l
o
t 
o
f 

d
e
ta

ile
d
 a

n
a
ly

s
is

 
to

g
e
th

e
r 

w
it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
H

A
s
 

to
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
 t

h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 

re
n
ts

 t
h
a
t 
c
a
n
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 a

 
v
ia

b
le

 a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 a

n
d
 b

e
 

a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 t
o
 f

a
m

ili
e
s
 i
n
 

th
e
 h

ig
h
e
s
t 
p
ri
o
ri
ty

 
h
o

u
s
in

g
 n

e
e
d
, 

e
s
p

e
c
ia

lly
 l
a
rg

e
r 

fa
m

ili
e
s
. 
 T

h
e
 w

o
rd

in
g
 o

f 
th

e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 

a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 c

le
a

r 
th

e
 r

e
n
t 
le

v
e
ls

 a
re

 
in

te
n
d

e
d
 a

s
 g

u
id

a
n
c
e
 

ra
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 a

b
s
o
lu

te
 

c
a
p
s
. 

22



 
1
7
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 Q
u

e
s
ti

o
n

 
S

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
  

  

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
  

7
. 
D

o
 y

o
u
 h

a
v
e
 a

n
y
 

c
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 o
n
 t

h
e
 

E
q
u
a
lit

ie
s
 I

m
p
a
c
t 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

(E
q
IA

)?
 

 

T
h
e

re
 i
s
 n

o
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e
 t
o
 C

a
re

L
e
a
v
e
rs

 
in

 t
h
e
 E

q
IA

 a
n
d
 i
t 
s
h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 a

m
e

n
d

e
d
 

to
 c

o
n
s
id

e
r 

th
e
ir
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

 
 H

L
C

 r
e
s
p

o
n
s
e
: 

P
a
ra

 1
2
 o

f 
th

e
 E

q
IA

 
id

e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 t
h
e
 d

is
p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
a
te

 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
n
 t

h
e
 d

is
a
b
le

d
 a

n
d
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

. 
In

 a
ll 

th
e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 n

e
it
h
e
r 

p
ro

m
o
te

s
/i
m

p
ro

v
e
s
 

e
q
u
a
lit

y
. 

 
T

h
e
 E

q
IA

 h
a
s
 b

e
e
n
 

a
m

e
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 t

h
is

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
t 
o
n
 b

o
a
rd

. 
O

th
e
r 

p
o
in

ts
 r

a
is

e
d
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 

C
a
re

L
e

a
v
e
rs

 
h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 t

a
k
e

n
 i
n
to

 
a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

a
b

o
v
e
. 

E
q

u
a

li
ti

e
s
: 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

A
g

e
 G

ro
u

p
s
 

 

1
6
-2

4
  
  

  
  
  

8
%

 

2
5
-3

4
  
  

  
  
  

1
9

%
 

3
5
-4

4
  
  

  
  
  

 
2
7

%
 

4
5
-5

4
  
  

  
  
  

 
2
8

%
 

5
5
-6

4
  
  

  
  
 

1
3

%
 

6
5
+

 
3
%

 

  
  
  

  
  
  

  
 

 

 
 

D
is

a
b

ili
ti
e

s
 

 

Y
e

s
 

2
0

%
 

N
o

 
8
0

%
 

  

 
 

G
e

n
d

e
r 

 
 

M
a
le

  
3

9
%

 

F
e
m

a
le

 
5

8
%

 

P
re

fe
r 

n
o

t 
to

 s
ta

te
 

3
%

 

 
 

23



 
1
8
 

C
o

n
s
u

lt
a
ti

o
n

 Q
u

e
s
ti

o
n

 
S

u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
s
  

  

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
 f

ro
m

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

d
e
rs

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 R
e
s
p

o
n

s
e
  

     

T
e
n

u
re

 
 

 
 

E
th

n
ic

it
y
 

A
s

ia
n

 o
r 

A
s

ia
n

 B
ri

ti
s
h

 -
 A

fg
h

a
n

 
2
 

 

 
A

s
ia

n
 o

r 
A

s
ia

n
 B

ri
ti

s
h

 -
 I

n
d

ia
n

 
1

3
 

 

 
A

s
ia

n
 o

r 
A

s
ia

n
 B

ri
ti

s
h

 -
 P

a
k
is

ta
n

i 
2
 

 

 
A

s
ia

n
 o

r 
A

s
ia

n
 B

ri
ti

s
h

 -
 S

ri
 L

a
n

k
a
n

 
T

a
m

il
 

4
 

 

 
B

la
c

k
 o

r 
B

la
c

k
 B

ri
ti

s
h

 -
 C

a
ri

b
b

e
a
n

 
6
 

 

 
B

la
c

k
 o

r 
B

la
c

k
 B

ri
ti

s
h

 -
 G

h
a
n

a
ia

n
 

2
 

 

 
B

la
c

k
 o

r 
B

la
c

k
 B

ri
ti

s
h

 -
 A

n
y
 o

th
e
r 

B
la

c
k

 
b

a
c

k
g

ro
u

n
d

 
2
 

 

 
M

ix
e
d

 -
 W

h
it

e
 &

 A
fr

ic
a
n

 
1
 

 

 
M

ix
e
d

 -
 W

h
it

e
 &

 C
a
ri

b
b

e
a

n
 

1
 

 

 
M

ix
e
d

 -
 A

n
y
 o

th
e

r 
M

ix
e
d

 b
a

c
k
g

ro
u

n
d

 
1
 

 

 
O

th
e
r 

E
th

n
ic

 G
ro

u
p

 -
 A

ra
b

 
3
 

 

 
O

th
e
r 

E
th

n
ic

 G
ro

u
p

 -
 I

ra
n

ia
n

 
1
 

 

 
O

th
e
r 

E
th

n
ic

 G
ro

u
p

 -
 A

n
y
 o

th
e

r 
e

th
n

ic
 

g
ro

u
p

 
2
 

 

 
W

h
it

e
 -

 B
ri

ti
s
h

 
3

1
 

 

 
W

h
it

e
 -

 I
ri

s
h

 
4
 

 

 
W

h
it

e
 -

 P
o

li
s
h

 
2
 

 

 
W

h
it

e
 -

 R
o

m
a
n

ia
n

 
2
 

 

 
W

h
it

e
 -

 A
n

y
 o

th
e

r 
W

h
it

e
 b

a
c

k
g

ro
u

n
d

 
2
 

 

 
P

re
fe

r 
n

o
t 

to
 s

ta
te

 e
th

n
ic

 g
ro

u
p

 
1

0
 

 

 

24



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Tenancy Strategy 2012 
 
 
 
 

Revised Draft taking into account consultation comments: 
9 August 2012 

 
  

25



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                2 

 
Introduction 
 
The Localism Act 2011 introduced a number of new flexibilities for local authorities to 
consider when deciding how to make best use of existing social housing and how to 
encourage the development of new affordable housing. Alongside this there have also 
been changes to Housing Benefit rules capping the maximum private rents for which 
benefit can be claimed, particularly for larger properties, as well as further changes to 
benefits in general set out in the Welfare Reform Act 2012. As a consequence the Council 
decided to carry out early consultation with residents from August – October 2011 on how 
it would respond to the new flexibilities and the difficulties residents were facing due to the 
benefit changes. This Housing Changes review was reported to Cabinet in December 2011 
together with a number of options and a direction of travel was agreed. The Tenancy 
Strategy sets out the Council’s approach to: 
 

• the introduction of flexible fixed term tenancies in Harrow;  
• the introduction of Affordable Rents in Harrow 

 
The new strategies and policies within the Housing Changes Review intend to protect 
residents who most need our support and provide a range of realistic housing options in all 
tenures. They recognise that because the supply of housing at a low rent for life will never 
be sufficient to meet all of the priority housing needs in Harrow that residents must 
consider other options such as renting privately either in Harrow or elsewhere to meet their 
housing needs. 
 
1. Background 

 
The Localism Act 2011 introduced flexible tenancies. These are fixed term renewable 
tenancies of not less than 2 years and can be offered to new tenants alongside secure or 
assured tenancies. It is proposed that the general minimum length of flexible tenancies will 
be 5 years. A new approach to rents has also been introduced for housing association 
properties. New build homes and a proportion of relets can now be charged higher rents of 
up to 80% of market rents. 
 
Existing council and housing association tenants will not be affected by these changes 
unless they move to a new Affordable Rent property and will continue to enjoy their 
existing security of tenure and other terms and conditions including the right to buy, 
succession rights and the right to exchange their tenancy with another secure tenant. 
 
The Act requires every local authority to produce a Tenancy Strategy setting out the 
expectations for all social landlords in the local area in relation to: 
 

• The types of tenancies that will be granted 
 
• The length of fixed term tenancies when these are granted 

 
• The circumstances under which a particular type of tenancy will be granted 
 
• The process for reviewing tenancies at the end of the fixed term and the 

circumstances under which a tenancy may or may not be renewed either in the 
same property or in a different property. 

26



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                3 

 
Every social landlord is also required to have a Tenancy Policy. In addition to the above, 
the Tenancy Policy should contain: 
 

• The way in which a tenant or prospective tenant may appeal or complain about 
the length and/or type of fixed term tenancy offered and a decision not to renew 
the tenancy at the end of the fixed term 

 
• How the need of those who are vulnerable by reason of age, disability or illness, 

and households with children are taken into account including the use of 
tenancies which provide a reasonable degree of stability 

 
• The advice and assistance to be given to tenants to find alternative 

accommodation if a fixed term tenancy is not renewed. 
 

The Regulatory Framework for Social Housing in England from April 2012 sets out the 
specific standards that Registered Providers (RPs) must meet and takes account of the 
amendments made as a result of the Localism Act. The Tenancy Standard requires RPs to 
let their homes in a transparent and efficient way and to take account of the housing needs 
and aspirations of tenants and potential tenants. They must demonstrate how their lettings: 
 

• Make the best use of available housing 
• Are compatible with the purpose of the housing 
• Contribute to local authorities’ strategic housing function and sustainable 

communities 
 

 RP’s are also expected to co-operate with local authorities’ strategic housing function and 
their duty to meet identified Local housing needs. This includes assistance with local 
authorities’ homelessness duties, and through meeting obligations in nominations 
agreements. 
 
This Tenancy Strategy sets out the Council’s approach to fixed term tenancies, how these 
should contribute to making the best use of available social housing and the principles that 
we expect all social landlords to have regard to when setting out their own Tenancy 
policies. The intention is to have consistency in social landlords approach to new tenancies 
so that residents are reassured they will have the same housing offer regardless of who is 
their social housing landlord in the borough We have combined it with our statement on our 
approach to Affordable Rents which has also been reviewed and updated. As Harrow 
Council owns and manages around 5,000 council tenancies we will produce our own 
Tenancy Policy which will follow the principles set out in this document.  
 
Initial consultation was carried out with local residents prior to the draft Tenancy Strategy 
being published for formal consultation. Broadly there was support for the introduction of 
fixed term tenancies for new tenants on the basis this will contribute to making sure that 
social housing continues to be made available to those who most need it. However the 
majority of respondents felt that older people and those with disabilities should continue to 
be offered lifetime tenancies, or at the very least more certainty that their tenancy would be 
renewed if their circumstances remained the same. The Tenancy Strategy takes into 
account the views expressed during the initial consultation and has been revised to take 
account of the views expressed during the formal consultation. The outcomes of all 
consultation is summarised and available at …[add link]. 

27



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                4 

 
2. Context 

 
Harrow is an outer London borough with excellent transport links to central London, 
schools and access to attractive Green Belt and other open space. Along with other 
boroughs demand for housing is high and this is reflected in the high cost of housing both 
to buy and to rent privately. Unlike many other boroughs Harrow has a small supply of 
social housing at only 10% of the total housing stock. Twice as many people now live in the 
private rented sector (20%) whilst the vast majority (70%) own their homes. 
 
As a result of Housing Benefit changes and the effects of recession many more people 
have been coming to the Council for help with their housing over the past year. Due to the 
limited supply of social housing we help most people by assisting them to remain in their 
current homes or by encouraging and assisting them to find alternative housing in the 
private rented sector. It is becoming increasingly important that our small supply of social 
housing is used to its full potential to provide homes for those in the highest priority 
housing need. Whilst the introduction of fixed term tenancies is not likely to produce 
significant numbers of additional social housing for relet it will help us to target social 
housing at those who most need it and makes an important contribution alongside other 
initiatives such as those to encourage underoccupiers to downsize. 
 
You can find more information on the facts and figures supporting this strategy at: 

 
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/info/200003/housing_policies_and_planning_for_housing/2522/h
ousing_evidence_base 

 
3.  Objectives 

 
This strategy supports a number of our overarching objectives approved by Cabinet in 
December 2011 as follows: 
 

• Deliver excellent services shaped and valued by our communities – we have 
developed this strategy in consultation with the community 

 
• Increase the supply of housing, including locally affordable housing and make 

best use of the existing social housing stock – whilst we aim to build as much 
additional affordable housing in Harrow as we can we know this will never meet all 
needs and therefore our existing social housing stock must be targeted at those who 
most need it 

 
• Continue to tackle homelessness by improving access to, and improving 

standards in the private rented sector – the tenancy strategy should support and 
complement initiatives that promote economically realistic housing options in the 
private sector 

 
• Enhanced housing options, promoting mobility and choice - supporting 

households to consider the economically realistic housing option that best meets 
their current housing need and to think about what that might be in the future 

 
• Supporting sustainable and viable communities – this strategy should contribute 

to tenancy sustainment and the promotion of employment and training opportunities 

28



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                5 

so that tenants are supported in adapting to the changing welfare benefits 
environment and the most vulnerable households are protected and supported in 
their home. 

 
4. Who should be given which type of tenancy 

 
The Council supports the use of introductory or probationary tenancies followed by fixed 
term tenancies for the majority of new tenants. They will help us to ensure that our scarce 
social housing stock is used in the best way to help those most in need. 
 
We have consulted on the best way to balance the need to make the best use of our stock 
whilst protecting those households who most need our support and whose circumstances 
are highly unlikely to change in the future and/or not to penalise existing secure tenants 
who may need to move.  
 
We recommend all new tenancies to be flexible fixed term tenancies, except for: 
.  
(i) older people moving into sheltered or extra care housing, older people who have 

reached state retirement age and are moving to a smaller property; and  
(ii) underoccupiers of state retirement age moving to a smaller property, 
 
who should be granted life time tenancies and for automatic renewal in certain other 
circumstances.  

 
The circumstances for automatic renewal are set out in section 7 – Tenancy Reviews 
(page 6). We would also recommend that secure tenants transferring or mutual 
exchanging, including through the Housingmoves scheme, to an Affordable Rent property 
should be offered a life-time tenancy.  
 
The reason for this recommendation is that there may be situations where for example 
someone no longer needs a specialist or adapted property and the granting of a lifetime 
tenancy in all circumstances would prevent making best use of the property. Automatic 
renewal where the need remains still provides the necessary certainty of support to 
vulnerable households. 
  
5. Minimum length of Tenancy 

 
The council supports the offer of an introductory or probationary tenancy followed by a 
minimum 5 year tenancy period in most circumstances where a fixed term tenancy is being 
granted. We consider that a 5 year tenancy offers reasonable security to most households 
and is considerably more secure than the average initial tenancy granted in the private 
sector. In addition, we expect the majority of fixed term tenancies will be renewed because 
people’s circumstances have not changed materially, for example the household income 
has not increased and there is no other more economically realistic affordable housing 
option and/or the household size still matches the size of property. However, reviewing the 
tenancy periodically will enable tenants to consider what other housing options there are or 
might be in the future and to discuss other opportunities for example relating to 
employment/training initiatives. 
 
The Localism Act allows the granting of shorter tenancies of no less than two years in 
exceptional circumstances. The council does not generally support the granting of a 
shorter tenancy period in any circumstances other than those specified below.  

29



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                6 

 
• Where a shorter tenancy period is required to enable redevelopment to take place 
• In any of the circumstances under section 7 when considering renewal of a tenancy 

the tenant could move to another property but it would be unreasonable to enforce it 
at this time 

 
6. Succession 

 
There is an automatic right for a spouse or partner of a tenant to succeed to a fixed term 
tenancy, but this can only happen once. Social landlords have the discretion to grant 
additional successions. In view of the limited amount of social housing in Harrow the 
Council supports discretionary succession only in the following circumstances: 
 

• Where a family member1 has been part of the household for at least 5 years or 
where a full time carer (who is not a family member or employed as the carer) gave 
up accommodation to care for a minimum of 12 months, the property meets their 
housing needs and no alternative economically realistic housing option exists. In the 
situation where the property is larger than the needs of the family member or full 
time carer a suitable alternative economically realistic housing option may be the 
offer of a suitable social housing property on a flexible tenancy. A succession to a 
flexible fixed term tenancy should only be granted for the remainder of the life of that 
tenancy and renewal subject to a review when the end of the tenancy is due. 

 
7. Tenancy Reviews and advice and assistance when a tenancy might not be 

renewed 
 

The tenancy review should primarily be an opportunity for both landlord and tenant to 
consider if the current home still best meets the tenants needs and how it might be 
possible to meet future aspirations for example for home ownership by discussing low cost 
home ownership options available, savings for deposits etc and by offering advice and 
guidance to non working households on national and local employment and training 
initiatives. Based on our evidence we expect the majority of tenancies to be renewed and 
we also want our strategy to contribute to the continuation of mixed and balanced 
communities and prevent unnecessary churn and upheaval.  
 
We have recommended in Section 4 that all new tenancies are granted as fixed term 
tenancies but are automatically renewed in the following circumstances: 
 

• The tenants are of state retirement age and living in a 1 bedroom general needs 
property; 

• The tenant(s), their spouse or partner or a dependent child is disabled validated by 
means testing for disability benefits; 

• The tenant(s), their spouse or partner or a dependent child has a severe learning 
disability or severe enduring mental health need validated by the relevant officer in 
the Council’s Community, Health and Wellbeing directorate; 

• The Tenant was a Care Leaver and is still receiving support from the Council. 
 
The Council expects the following principles to be taken into account when considering 
whether to renew the tenancy:  

                                            
1
 The definition of family member is all those individuals defined as family members under s.113 of the Housing 

Act 1985 as amended.  

30



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                7 

 
• The property should not be larger than the current housing needs of the tenant and 

their household2. An examples of where the property is no longer suitable might be 
if the property is under-occupied by one-bedroom or more and an alternative 
suitably sized property is being offered, the property has been extensively adapted 
but for someone with a disability who no longer lives with the tenant and an 
alternative property is being offered. In these circumstances it would be reasonable 
not to renew the tenancy so that the property can be let to someone who needs it. 
Other considerations to be taken into account with regard to the suitability of 
alternative accommodation might include specific individual circumstances and 
access to family support networks; 

 
• The tenant’s household income is sufficient to enable the tenant and their household 

to find other suitable accommodation either by moving into intermediate housing 
(low cost home ownership or sub market rent), private rented or buying on the open 
market.  We propose using the following household income eligibility limits as an 
absolute income cap, that is anyone earning above these limits would be expected 
to move independently into the private sector either to rent or buy: 

 
Household Size Income Limit 

I bed £30,000 
2 bed £38,000 
3 bed £48,000 
4 bed £60,0003 

 
 The information used to calculate these limits is attached at Appendix 1 and will be 

reviewed and updated annually. 
 

 A financial assessment should be carried out for applicants earning below these 
limits to determine what other affordable housing options are available;  

 
• The tenant’s household has assets or savings greater than £24,000. The proposed  

income and savings limits are the same as will be proposed in the Councils revised 
Housing Allocations Scheme which would normally exclude them from being 
granted a tenancy; 

 
• The tenant has breached the terms of their tenancy and failed to reach or maintain 

an agreement with the Council or their landlord to remedy this breach. For example 
there are rent arrears and the tenant has not agreed to maintain an agreement to 
clear these or there has been serious and persistent documented anti-social 
behaviour. 

 
• The tenant or a member of the household has a conviction for civil disturbance 

carried out in the locality of Harrow or other criminal activity such as housing fraud. 
 
 We would expect the review to take place at least 9 months before the tenancy is due to 

come to an end to allow sufficient time for a tenant to find alternative housing if the tenancy 
is not renewed and alternative accommodation is not to be provided. 

                                            
2
 The definition of household is the tenant(s) and all those reasonably expected to reside with them 

3
 The income limits have been calculated with reference to local rents and on the basis that housing costs should 

not exceed 30% of gross income  

31



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                8 

 
We recognise there may be circumstances where it might be considered unreasonable to 
expect someone to move even if one of the above criteria apply and would recommend 
allowing a tenancy to continue if: 

  
• The tenant or a member of their household is suffering from a terminal illness; 

 
• The tenant has children attending a local school at key stages of education, 

specifically in year 10/11 or year 12/13 and no economically realistic alternative 
housing is available locally.  

 
• The tenant is a foster carer and the tenancy needs to continue to enable them to 

fulfil this role; 
 

• The tenant is participating in a Tenancy Sustainment Programme or a training and 
employment programme and moving at this stage would prevent the tenant from 
completing the programme; 

 
• The tenant makes an active and positive contribution to their local community, 

through for example volunteering for an approved organisation on a regular weekly 
basis. 

 
In any of the above circumstances it may be appropriate to offer a shorter tenancy renewal 
of at least two years or a further five year tenancy depending on individual circumstances. 
 
Given the Council’s intention to prevent homelessness wherever possible and to ensure 
that appropriate economically realistic housing options are available to people in housing 
need it would be pointless for landlords not to renew tenancies unless they have carried 
out the review thoroughly including offering appropriate proactive advice and assistance to 
find alternative accommodation. Options for alternative housing could include home 
ownership either outright or through the various First Steps initiatives or other government 
initiatives, a privately rented home either in Harrow or elsewhere or a more suitable 
affordable rented home either in Harrow or elsewhere. We would also expect appropriate 
advice on employment and training initiatives to be provided to non working households 
including young adults who form part of the household.  
 
Where a Tenancy Review is being carried out with a vulnerable household, such as a Care 
Leaver or other vulnerable adult appropriate support arrangements should be made such 
as use of an advocate or advocacy service. 
 
Although it is clear in the Localism Act 2011 that it is the responsibility of the landlord to 
provide the advice and assistance the Council already provides a comprehensive service 
locally to all applicants for affordable housing including advice and assistance on finding 
suitable private rented accommodation, and can therefore be contracted to provide this 
service. The Council will be using this service to provide advice and assistance where it 
does not renew fixed term tenancies. For details of the service available please contact 
Jon Dalton by emailing jon.dalton@harrow.gov.uk or phoning 020 8416 8647. 
 
As the Council retains the statutory responsibility to provide housing for priority homeless 
households we want to ensure that a robust approach is taken to advice and assistance 
where a tenancy is not renewed and we would ask all social landlords in Harrow to: 

32



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                9 

 
• Notify the Council when a tenancy is not to be renewed and of the agreed 

alternative housing arrangements; 
 

• If not making use of the Council’s advice and assistance service (which is our 
preferred option) to provide details of the advice and assistance provided. 

 
8. Reviews and Complaints 
 
All social landlords are required to set out the way in which a tenant or prospective tenant 
may seek a review of or complain about the length of the fixed term and the type of 
tenancy offered and against a decision not to grant another tenancy on the expiry of the 
fixed term. The Council expects Registered Providers to ensure their Tenancy Policies: 
 

• State how and to whom review requests should be made eg to a senior officer not 
involved in the original decision 

• Give timescales in which the review will be dealt with 
• State how the tenant can take their complaint further if they are dissatisfied with the 

response eg to Housing Ombudsman or by way of judicial review and where they 
may get independent advice 

• Be accessible and widely publicised eg published on websites, available in housing 
offices, local community buildings etc 

 
The Council would also be able to carry out independent reviews on behalf of social 
landlords working in Harrow. Please contact Jon Dalton as detailed in section 7 for further 
information. 

 
9. Affordability 

 
A key element of the Council’s Housing Strategy is to enable the development of additional 
affordable housing and we recognise that at the current time housing associations have 
been required to contribute to this by charging the new Affordable Rents (up to 80% of 
market rents) on new developments and a proportion of relets in order to obtain grant 
funding. We are concerned that charging the maximum of 80% market rent would mean 
new homes are unaffordable as a result of welfare reforms, especially for large families. 
However we also need to take account of the small supply of social housing in Harrow and 
as a result the majority of households in housing need are now offered private rented 
sector housing either in Harrow or elsewhere at the Local Housing Allowance market rent.  
 
We produced guidance on our approach to Affordable Rents in May 2011 taking account of 
the above issues. The guidance supported the continued development of affordable 
housing in the borough and as a consequence accepted that rents of up to 80% could be 
charged on 1 and 2 bedroom properties to enable social housing rents to be let on the 
larger family homes. This resulted in a blended average of rents at 50-55% of market 
across the average new scheme depending on unit mix. 
 
This approach produced an anomaly on some schemes of rents of two bedroom properties 
being higher than three bedroom properties making it difficult to encourage households to 
downsize. We have therefore reviewed our guidance with RPs and amended the guideline 
rent levels, taking account of local affordability, for each bed size as follows: 
 

33



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                10 

1 bed – up to 80% 
2 bed – up to 70% 
3 bed – up to 60% 
4 bed plus – up to 40% with a suggested guideline maximum of £200 per week subject to 
individual scheme viability4 
 
Our general principles in relation to Affordable Rents are therefore: 
 

• We support the introduction of Affordable Rents on new schemes provided they 
contribute to the continued development of affordable housing in Harrow; 

• Registered Providers must take account of welfare benefit caps and set rents that 
will be affordable locally; 

• We support the conversion of a maximum of 25% of the existing RP stock to 
Affordable Rents provided they contribute to the continued development of 
affordable housing in Harrow. However where the conversion of properties with 3 
bedrooms or greater is proposed, this will not generally be supported; 

• We do not support the disposal of stock which results in a net loss of social housing 
supply and particularly the disposal of family housing. 

 
Our detailed guidance is attached at Appendix 2. 

 
10. Equalities 

 
We have used the outcomes from our consultations and our Evidence Base to complete our 
Equalities Impact Assessment which is available from the Council’s website through the 
following link: [add link] 
 
11. Reviewing the Tenancy Strategy 

 
This strategy will be monitored and reviewed annually. Revisions, such as to the income and 
savings caps, will be authorised by the Portfolio Holder for Housing.  
 

                                            
4
 £200 guideline represents 40% of universal cap of £500 per week. 

34



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                11 

Appendix 1: Income limit Calculation 
 
 

Income Limits: 18 July 2012

Bed size Open market purchase Shared Ownership purchase Market rent

Median 

House Price

20% deposit 

required Mortgage

Gross 

income 

required*

Assumed 

OMV 25% share

10% 

deposit

Minimum 

gross 

income 

required

Lower 

quartile 

rent pw

Lower 

Quartile 

Rent PCM

Gross 

income 

required

1 bed £174,650 £34,930 £139,720 £39,920 £195,000 £48,750 £4,875 £26,000 £173 £750 £30,000

2 bed £286,300 £57,260 £299,040 £65,440 £249,950 £62,488 £6,249 £32,000 £219 £950 £38,000

3 bed £363,400 £72,680 £290,720 £83,063 £350,000 £87,500 £8,750 £44,000 £277 £1,200 £48,000

4 bed £471,800 £94,360 £377,440 £107,840 £430,000 £107,500 £10,750 £54,000 £346 £1,500 £60,000

NB. Based on housing costs not exceeding 30% of gross income (which is currently equivalent to 40% of net income where net

income is 75% of gross. In 2011 the gross median weekly wage of Harrow residents was £603 (£31,356 per annum) and the 

gross median weekly wage of Harrow residents working in Harrow was £510 (£26,520 per annum)

35



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                12 

Appendix 2 
 

Harrow Council 
 
Policy on Affordable Rent Development – April 2012 
 
Introduction 
 
This Policy Statement updates and replaces the Affordable Housing Framework Position 
Statement published in May 2011. The original position statement was provided in advance of 
the deadline for the Homes and Communities Agency 2011-15 bid round.  
 
The interim position provided our Registered Provider (RP) partners with reasonable 
assurance regarding the levels of open market rent which may be acceptable in Harrow given 
proposed wider changes to the benefits system at that time. In summary, up to 80% market 
rent was deemed acceptable on 1 and 2 bedroom properties but that we would ask partners to 
let 3 bedroom plus homes at existing target rents or as close as possible due to affordability 
issues. 
 
Changing Policy 
 
Since the Interim position was published, the Welfare Reform Act received royal assent (8th 
March 2012). The Act puts into law the Welfare Reform Bill and confirms the introduction of 
Universal Credit.  
 
As a result of changes brought about by the Localism and Welfare Reform Acts, Harrow is 
reviewing its entire suite of housing policies and strategies to reflect the national changes. An 
evidence base has been developed to inform the policy changes and this can be found at: 
 
www.harrow.gov.uk/housingchanges  
 
Issues such as population change, affordability, housing need, the existing housing waiting list 
etc are examined in detail and inform this Affordable Rent policy.   
 
The Affordable Housing Delivery Group was consulted in February 2012 regarding the need to 
review the Interim position on Affordable rent levels. The main conclusion from the 
consultation was that many of the RPs had adopted similar approaches to Harrow based on 
their own research. It was considered that an element of flexibility should be allowed from the 
original interim guidance, particularly in relation to the anomaly between 2 and 3 bed rent 
levels, so that priorities such as retaining affordable housing supply could be properly 
balanced with issues relating to affordability and the range of market rents across bedsizes 
and across certain areas in the borough.. 
 
Rent Levels in Harrow 
 
Rents have been reasonably static across the borough over the last year. Clearly there are 
variations across the various postcodes in the borough with Stanmore being the most 
expensive area and Harrow Weald generally being the cheapest in general. 
 

36



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                13 

The table below sets out private market rents across Harrow as at April 2012. This information 
will be updated regularly in the housing changes evidence base which can be accessed 
through link provided earlier. 
 
 

 Market Rent 80% Market LHA Existing Social Rent 
 

1 bed £187 £149.60 £173.08 £100 

2 bed £233 £186.40 £219.23 £115 

3 bed £300 £240.00 £288.46 £133 

4 bed + £381 £304.80 £346.15 £141 
 
The above is based on local comparables at April 2012 which will be updated regularly. 

 
Affordability in Harrow 
 
It is recognised that adopting a one size fits all approach to household affordability is difficult 
given the complexity of the universal cap for working and non working households. 
 
For those in receipt of benefits 
 
Changes to the benefit system through the universal benefit reform limit the amount non 
working households can claim to a maximum level of £26,000 per annum or £18,200 for single 
households. This figure includes housing benefit.  
 
We estimate that around 90-95% of those in priority need on the housing waiting list are in 
receipt of benefits of some sort and are currently undertaking work to determine the number of 
households who are completely economically inactive, the results of which will be set out in 
updates to the housing changes evidence base 
 
The table at Appendix 1 of this briefing demonstrates the effects of these changes on various 
household sizes and shows that family sized housing at 80% market rent is not affordable in 
Harrow to those in receipt of benefit and classed as non working.  
 
For working households 
 
The affordability measure in use by the HCA and the GLA ranges from a maximum of 40-45% 
net income to be spent on housing costs depending on tenure.  
 
CACI data for the borough shows that the total average equivalised household income in the 
borough in 2010 (latest available) was £30,827. This data also shows that around 38% of 
households in Harrow have a household income of less than £25,000 per annum. The table 
below shows the minimum household income required for households at the LHA limit and 
80% market rent for each bedsize in Harrow (as at April 2012) using 40% net income as the 
affordability measure. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

37



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                14 

 
 
 
 
 

  LHA Cap (pw) Per Annum Min Net Income Required 
Min Gross Income  
(if Net income = 75% Gross) 

1 bed £173.08  £  9,000.16   £22,500.40   £ 30,000.53  

2 bed £219.23  £11,399.96   £28,499.90   £ 37,999.87  

3 bed  £288.46  £14,999.92   £37,499.80   £49,999.73  

4 bed £346.15  £17,999.80   £44,999.50   £59,999.33  

     

     

  80% Market (pw) Per Annum Min Net Income Required 
Min Gross Income  
(if Net income = 75% Gross) 

1 bed £149.60  £  7,779.20   £19,448.00   £25,930.67  

2 bed £186.40  £  9,692.80   £24,232.00   £ 32,309.33  

3 bed  £240  £12,480.00   £31,200.00   £41,600.00  

4 bed £304.80  £15,849.60   £39,624.00   £52,832.00  

 
 
Guidance to RPs on the implementation of the Affordable Rent model in Harrow 
 
Taking into account the affordability issues outlined above and the size of the social housing 
stock in Harrow, our approach is set out below. We stress the importance of RPs continuing to 
talk to us at an early stage about their proposals so that we can find solutions that enable 
affordable housing development to continue that will meet priority local needs. 
 

• RPs should continue to have regard to Harrow’s policies which encourage the 
development of affordable housing and in particular 3 bed plus family sized housing, 
wheelchair housing and supported housing which is affordable to those on the Harrow 
housing waiting list. 

 
• The Council will consider a “hybrid approach” to the new Affordable Rent model which 

will allow the continued development of affordable housing, including larger homes at 
lower rent levels alongside 1 and 2 bed homes at higher rent levels where affordability 
allows. We would stress that the following ranges represent an indication of what may 
be considered affordable in Harrow but it is highly important that proposed rents are 
discussed with the Housing Department early in the scheme formation process. 

 
1 bed – up to 80% 
2 bed – up to 70% 
3 bed – up to 60% 
4 bed plus – up to 40% with a suggested guideline maximum of £200 per week5 

 
• In the interests of sustainable communities the Council would encourage a stepped 

approach to rent levels by unit size to ensure that there are no anomalies between 2 
and 3 bedroom rent levels. For example it is often the case that if 3 bedroom properties 
are charged at target rents, a 2 bedroom property on the same development may cost 
more if charged at 80% market rent. This may fetter the Council’s ability to encourage 
under occupiers to downsize. 

                                            
5
 £200 represents 40% of universal cap of £500 per week. 

38



 

$toxrg3b0.doc                15 

 
• We will continue to consider shared ownership that is affordable at the current target 

income levels. The ratio between rented and shared ownership on development 
schemes will be 60:40 as a starting point as per current planning policy. 

 
• No rents should be higher than the Local Housing Allowance applicable in Harrow. 

 
• There are relatively few relets of existing RP properties in Harrow and, in view of the 

overall small size of the social housing stock, conversions of existing target rent 
properties should be no more than 25% of 1 and 2 bed properties. Conversion of larger 
properties should not generally be undertaken.  

 
• All conversion proposals should be discussed and agreed with the borough 

before they are implemented. It is extremely important that RPs discuss this with 
the borough as soon as a conversion is identified due to the possibility of 
clashes with policies such as the Under Occupation Strategy. In addition if there 
is a S106 agreement attached to the scheme this will require properties to be let 
at target rents and the agreement would need to be varied to enable properties to 
be let at the new Affordable Rent. 

 
• Disposal of family homes (3 bed+) should only be undertaken as a matter of last resort, 

following discussion and agreement with the borough. 
 

• All nominations for Affordable Rent homes will be through the Locata choice based 
lettings system i.e. similar applicants to existing arrangements. 

 
We encourage RPs to speak to Harrow about proposals for the new Affordable Rent model as 
early as possible in the formation of development proposals. Early dialogue will ensure that 
proposals can be assessed in line with overall priority and agreed accordingly from the outset.  
 
For further information please contact the Enabling team: 
 
Elaine Slowe (Housing Enabling Manager) on 020 8420 9229 or 
 
Damien Lynch (Project Manager – Enabling) on 020 8420 9228 
 
 

39



40

This page is intentionally left blank



 

$vcwcx3xd.doc       1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Draft Tenancy Policy 
 
 
 
 

Version 4: 9 August 2012 
 
  

41



 

$vcwcx3xd.doc       2 

 
Introduction 
 
The Localism Act 2011 introduced a number of new flexibilities for local authorities to 
consider when deciding how to make best use of existing social housing and how to 
encourage the development of new affordable housing. Alongside this there have also 
been changes to Housing Benefit rules capping the maximum private rents for which 
benefit can be claimed, particularly for larger properties, as well as further changes to 
benefits in general set out in the Welfare Reform Act 2012. As a consequence the Council 
decided to carry out early consultation with residents from August – October 2011 on how 
it would respond to the new flexibilities and the difficulties residents were facing due to the 
benefit changes. This Housing Changes review was reported to Cabinet in December 2011 
together with a number of options and a direction of travel was agreed. A set of new draft 
strategies and policies are now being developed for further consultation before being 
submitted for approval by Cabinet in December 2012. 
 
The Council’s draft Tenancy Strategy provides guidance to all social landlords in Harrow 
on our approach to: 
 

• the introduction of flexible fixed term tenancies in Harrow;  
• the introduction of Affordable Rents in Harrow 

 
This Tenancy Policy sets out how the Council will introduce fixed term tenancies for new 
Council tenants from the date it is formally adopted.  It will not apply to existing Council 
tenants. The policy is intended to protect residents who most need our support and 
recognises that the supply of housing at a low rent for life will never be sufficient to meet all 
of the priority housing needs in Harrow . Most new tenants who can afford to do so will be 
expected to consider other housing options such as shared ownership or renting privately 
either in Harrow or elsewhere at the end of their fixed term tenancy. 
 
Please read this draft Tenancy Policy and provide your comments by …………. 2012. You 
can fill in our online consultation via ........or alternatively you can email your 
comments to Housing Changes (housingchanges@harrow.gov.uk).  
 
1. Background 

 
The Localism Act 2011 introduced flexible tenancies. These are fixed term renewable 
tenancies of not less than 2 years and can be offered to new tenants alongside secure or 
assured tenancies. A new approach to rents has also been introduced for housing 
association properties. New build homes and a proportion of relets can now be charged 
higher rents of up to 80% of market rents. 
 
Existing council and housing association tenants will not be affected by these changes 
unless they move to a new Affordable Rent property and will continue to enjoy their 
existing security of tenure and other terms and conditions including the right to buy, 
succession rights and the right to exchange their tenancy with another secure tenant. 
 
The Act requires every local authority to produce a Tenancy Strategy setting out the 
expectations for all social landlords in the local area in relation to: 
 

• The types of tenancies that will be granted 
 

42



 

$vcwcx3xd.doc       3 

• The length of fixed term tenancies when these are granted 
 

• The circumstances under which a particular type of tenancy will be granted 
 
• The process for reviewing tenancies at the end of the fixed term and the 

circumstances under which a tenancy may or may not be renewed either in the 
same property or in a different property. 

 
Every social landlord, including the Council is also required to have a Tenancy Policy. In 
addition to the above, the Tenancy Policy should contain: 
 

• The way in which a tenant or prospective tenant may appeal or complain about 
the length and/or type of fixed term tenancy offered and a decision not to renew 
the tenancy at the end of the fixed term 

 
• How the need of those who are vulnerable by reason of age, disability or illness, 

and households with children are taken into account including through tenancies 
which provide a reasonable degree of stability 

 
• The advice and assistance to be given to tenants to find alternative 

accommodation if a fixed term tenancy is not renewed. 
 

This Tenancy Policy sets out how the Council will use flexible fixed term tenancies of 5 
years for its own housing stock. It follows the principles widely consulted upon and set out 
in our Tenancy Strategy.   

 
2. Context 

 
Harrow is an outer London borough with excellent transport links to central London, 
schools and access to attractive Green Belt and other open space. Along with other 
boroughs demand for housing is high and this is reflected in the high cost of housing both 
to buy and to rent privately. Unlike many other boroughs Harrow has a small supply of 
social housing at only 10% of the total housing stock. Twice as many people now live in the 
private rented sector (20%) whilst the vast majority (70%) own their homes. 
 
As a result of Housing Benefit changes and the effects of recession many more people 
have been coming to the Council for help with their housing over the past year. Due to the 
limited supply of social housing we help most people by assisting them to remain in their 
current homes or by encouraging and assisting them to find alternative housing in the 
private rented sector. It is becoming increasingly important that our own small Council 
housing stock is used to its full potential to provide homes for those in the highest priority 
housing need. Whilst the introduction of fixed term tenancies is not likely to produce 
significant numbers of additional Council housing for relet it will help us to target social 
housing at those who most need it and makes an important contribution alongside other 
initiatives such as those to encourage underoccupiers to downsize. 
 
You can find more information on the facts and figures supporting this policy at: 

 
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/info/200003/housing_policies_and_planning_for_housing/2522/h
ousing_evidence_base 

 

43



 

$vcwcx3xd.doc       4 

3.  Objectives 
 

This Tenancy Policy supports a number of our overarching objectives approved by Cabinet 
in December 2011 as follows: 
 

• Deliver excellent services shaped and valued by our communities – we have 
developed this strategy in consultation with the community 

 
• Increase the supply of housing, including locally affordable housing and make 

best use of the existing social housing stock – whilst we aim to build as much 
additional affordable housing in Harrow as we can we know this will never meet all 
needs and therefore our existing social housing stock must be targeted at those who 
most need it 

 
• Continue to tackle homelessness by improving access to, and improving 

standards in the private rented sector – the tenancy strategy should support and 
complement initiatives that promote economically realistic housing options in the 
private sector 

 
• Enhanced housing options, promoting mobility and choice - supporting 

households to consider the economically realistic housing option that best meets 
their current housing need and to think about what that might be in the future 

 
• Supporting sustainable and viable communities – this strategy should contribute 

to tenancy sustainment and the promotion of employment and training opportunities 
so that tenants are supported in adapting to the changing welfare benefits 
environment and the most vulnerable households are protected and supported in 
their home. 

 
4. Who should be given which type of tenancy 

 
The Council is now intending to use introductory or probationary tenancies followed by 
fixed term tenancies for the majority of new tenants. They will help us to ensure that our 
scarce Council housing stock is used in the best way to help those most in need. 
 
We have consulted on the best way to balance the need to make the best use of our stock 
whilst protecting those households who most need our support and whose circumstances 
are highly unlikely to change in the future and/or not to penalise existing secure tenants 
who may need to move.  
 
We will offer the following applicants life-time tenancies: 
 

• Under-occupiers who have reached state retirement age and who are moving to a 
smaller property; and 

 
• Older people moving into sheltered or extra care housing, older people who have 

reached state retirement age and are moving into a one bed general needs 
property. 

 
 

44



 

$vcwcx3xd.doc       5 

In all other circumstances a fixed term tenancy will be granted with automatic renewal in 
certain circumstances. The circumstances for automatic renewal are set out in section 7 – 
Tenancy Reviews (page 6). 
 
The reason for this approach is that there may be situations where for example someone 
no longer needs a specialist or adapted property and the granting of a lifetime tenancy in 
all circumstances would prevent making best use of the property. Automatic renewal where 
the household continues to have the same needs will provide the necessary certainty of 
support to vulnerable households. 
  
5. Minimum length of Tenancy 

 
The council will offer a 12 month introductory or probationary tenancy followed by a 
minimum 5 year tenancy period in most circumstances where a fixed term tenancy is being 
granted. We consider that a 5 year tenancy offers reasonable security to most households 
and is considerably more secure than the average initial tenancy granted in the private 
sector. In addition, we expect the majority of fixed term tenancies will be renewed because 
people’s circumstances have not changed materially, for example the household income 
has not increased and there is no other more economically realistic affordable housing 
option and/or the household size still matches the size of property. However, reviewing the 
tenancy periodically will enable tenants to consider what other housing options there are or 
might be in the future and to discuss other opportunities for example relating to 
employment/training initiatives. 
 
The Localism Act allows the granting of shorter tenancies of no less than two years in 
exceptional circumstances. The council will not grant a shorter tenancy period in any 
circumstances other than those specified below.  
 

• Where a shorter tenancy period is required to enable redevelopment to take place 
• In any of the circumstances under section 7 when considering renewal of a tenancy 

the tenant could move to another property but it would be unreasonable to enforce it 
at this time 

 
6. Succession 

 
In view of the limited amount of social housing in Harrow the Council will only offer 
discretionary succession in the following circumstances: 
 

• Where a family member1 has been part of the household for at least 5 years or 
where a carer (who is not a family member or employed as the carer) gave up 
accommodation to care for a minimum of 12 months, the property meets their 
housing needs and no alternative economically realistic housing option exists. In the 
situation where the property is larger than the needs of the family member or carer a 
suitable alternative economically realistic housing option may be the offer of a 
suitable social housing property on a fixed term tenancy. A succession to a fixed 

                                            
1
 Family members include the tenant’s: (i) spouse or civil partner, or the person the tenant resides with as 

husband or wife or as if they were civil partners; (ii) parent, grandparent, child, grandchild, brother, sister, uncle, 
aunt, nephew or niece, stepchild, illegitimate child as well as relationships of the half blood; and (iii) relationship 
by marriage or civil partnership will be treated as a relationship by blood.   
 

45



 

$vcwcx3xd.doc       6 

term tenancy should only be granted for the remainder of the life of that tenancy and 
renewal subject to a review when the end of the tenancy is due. 

 
7. Tenancy Reviews and advice and assistance when a tenancy might not be 

renewed 
 

The tenancy review is primarily an opportunity for the Council and tenant to consider if the 
current home still best meets the tenants needs and how it might be possible to meet 
future aspirations for example for home ownership by discussing low cost home ownership 
options available, savings for deposits etc and by offering advice and guidance to non 
working households on national and local employment and training initiatives. Based on 
our evidence we expect the majority of Council tenancies to be renewed.  
 
All new tenancies, with the exception of life time tenancies, will be granted as fixed term 
tenancies and automatically renewed if the following tenant’s household circumstances are 
unchanged since they were originally housed: 
 

• The tenants are of state retirement age and living in a 1 bedroom general needs 
property; 

• The tenant(s), their spouse or partner or a dependent child is disabled validated by 
means testing for disability benefits; 

• The tenant(s), their spouse or partner or a dependent child have a severe learning 
disability or severe enduring mental health need validated by the relevant officer in 
the Council’s Community, Health and Wellbeing directorate 

• The tenant was a Care Leaver and is still receiving support from the Council 
 
The Council will take the following principles into account when considering whether to 
renew the tenancy:  
 

• The property should meet the current housing needs of the tenant and their 
household. Examples where the property is no longer suitable might be if the 
property is under-occupied by one-bedroom or more and an alternative suitably 
sized property is being offered, the property has been extensively adapted but for 
someone with a disability who no longer lives with the tenant and an alternative 
property is being offered. In these circumstances it would be reasonable not to 
renew the tenancy so that the property can be let to someone who needs it. Other 
considerations to be taken into account with regard to the suitability of alternative 
accommodation might include specific individual circumstances and access to family 
support networks ; 

 
• The tenant’s household income is sufficient to enable the tenant and their household 

to find other suitable accommodation either by moving into intermediate housing 
(low cost home ownership or sub market rent), private rented or buying on the open 
market.  We propose using the following household income eligibility limits as an 
absolute income cap, that is anyone earning above these limits would be expected 
to move independently into the private sector either to rent or buy: 

 
 
 
 
 

46



 

$vcwcx3xd.doc       7 

 
Household Size Income Limit 

I bed £30,000 
2 bed £38,000 
3 bed £48,000 
4 bed £60,0002 

 
The information used to calculate these limits is attached at Appendix 2 and will be 
reviewed and updated annually. 
 
 A financial assessment will be carried out for applicants earning below these limits 
to determine what other affordable housing options are available;  

 
• The tenant’s household has assets or savings greater than £24,000. The proposed  

income and savings limits are the same as will be proposed in the Councils revised 
Housing Allocations Scheme which would normally exclude them from being 
granted a tenancy; 

 
• The tenant has breached the terms of their tenancy and failed to reach or maintain 

an agreement with the Council to remedy this breach. For example there are rent 
arrears and the tenant has not agreed to maintain an agreement to clear these or 
there has been serious and persistent documented anti-social behaviour. 

 
• The tenant or a member of the household has a conviction for civil disturbance 

carried out in the locality of Harrow or other criminal activity such as housing fraud. 
 
 We will carry out the review at least 9 months before the tenancy is due to come to an end 

to allow sufficient time for a tenant to find alternative housing if the tenancy is not renewed 
and alternative accommodation is not to be provided. 

 
We recognise there may be circumstances where it might be considered unreasonable to 
expect someone to move even if one of the above criteria apply and will consider allowing 
a tenancy to continue if: 

  
• The tenant or a member of their household is suffering from a terminal illness; 

 
• The tenant has children attending a local school at key stages of education, 

specifically in year 10/11 or year 12/13 and no economically realistic alternative 
housing is available locally.  

 
• The tenant is a foster carer and the tenancy needs to continue to enable them to 

fulfil this role; 
 

• The tenant is participating in a Tenancy Sustainment Programme or a training and 
employment programme and moving at this stage would prevent the tenant from 
completing the programme.  

 

                                            
2
 The income limits have been calculated with reference to local rents and on the basis that housing costs should 

not exceed 40% of net income (where net income is 70% of gross) 

47



 

$vcwcx3xd.doc       8 

• The tenant makes an active and positive contribution to their local community, 
through for example volunteering for an approved organisation on a regular weekly 
basis. 

 
In any of the above circumstances it may be appropriate to offer a shorter tenancy renewal 
of at least two years or a further five year tenancy depending on individual circumstances. 

  
The Review will be carried out by trained housing officers and include offering appropriate 
proactive advice and assistance to find alternative accommodation. Options for alternative 
housing could include home ownership either outright or through the various First Steps 
initiatives or other government initiatives, a privately rented home either in Harrow or 
elsewhere or a more suitable affordable rented home either in Harrow or elsewhere. 
Appropriate advice on employment and training initiatives will be provided to non working 
households including young adults who form part of the household. 
 
Where a Tenancy Review is being carried out with a vulnerable household, such as a Care 
Leaver or other vulnerable adult appropriate support arrangements will be made such as 
use of an advocate or advocacy service. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
8. Reviews and Complaints 
 
There are two stages at which an applicant can seek a review of any decision relating to 
the flexible tenancy. 
 
Review of offer to grant a flexible tenancy 
 
Following the service of the notice stating that on the coming to an end of the introductory 
tenancy it will become a flexible tenancy for a period of 5 years, the applicant can request 
a review of the Council’s decision about the length of the period of the flexible tenancy. A 
review can only be requested on the basis that the term of the flexible tenancy does not 
accord with the Council’s policy.  
 
These reviews are likely to be very small in number as the Council will in the main be 
granting 5 year flexible tenancies.  
 
A request for a review has to be made within 21 days of receipt of the notice. The Council 
can extend the time period for seeking such a review. The review will be conducted by a 
Senior Housing Manager who has had no previous involvement in the case. The applicant 
will be notified of the outcome of the review including the reasons for their decision within 
[56 days]. 
 
Review of decision not to renew the flexible tenancy 
 
Following the Tenancy review and after the provision of appropriate advice and assistance 
as set out above, the Council will serve notice where it is not going to renew a tenancy 7 
months before the tenancy is due to end. The notice will state that the Council will not be 
renewing the tenancy on the expiry of the flexible tenancy, the reasons why the tenancy is 

We have changed the income and savings limits to more accurately reflect local 
incomes and costs of housing since we consulted on the Tenancy Strategy. Do 

you agree with the new proposed limits and savings cap? 

48



 

$vcwcx3xd.doc       9 

not being renewed and explain the review process (“the First Notice”). The Council will also 
serve a notice 3 months before the tenancy is due to end giving the tenant not less than 
two months notice that the Council requires possession of the property and the date after 
which court proceedings may be begun (“the Second Notice”). If the tenant refuses to 
move when the notice period set out in the Second notice expires a court order will be 
applied for and the usual eviction process followed. 
 
If a Harrow council tenant disagrees with the Council’s decision not to renew their tenancy 
they may use the following review process. A request for a review has to be made within 
21 days of service of the First notice and must be carried out and the tenant notified of the 
decision before the date specified in the Second notice expires. 
 

• All applicants have the right to request general information about their tenancy 
review, including the facts that have been taken into account and the reason for not 
renewing the tenancy; 

 
• An applicant who is unhappy with the decision should in the first instance contact 

the Housing Operations manager to explain why they think the decision is 
unreasonable. This can be done face-to-face, over the telephone, by email or letter; 

 

• The applicant will be notified in writing whether the decision still stands and the 
reasons for this, usually within 5 working days; 

 

• If the applicant wishes to pursue the matter further, they can make a request for a 
formal review of the decision and must do so within 21 days of service of the First 
Notice. The Council will consider a review out of time if there has been a delay 
during the informal review. The request for a formal review may be made orally or in 
writing. Where the request is made orally, the Council may hold an oral hearing at 
which the applicant can be accompanied by an advocate or representative. The 
applicant will be asked to make submissions stating the reasons for the review 
request. The Council will seek any further information it considers necessary, 
including advice from other specialist advisers. This formal review will be conducted 
by a Senior Housing Manager who has had no previous involvement in the case. 
The applicant will be notified of the outcome of the review including the reasons for 
their decision within [56 days] and by no later than the date specified in the 
Second Notice as the date after which proceedings for the possession of the 
property may be begun.  

 

• The applicant also has the right to complain to the Housing Ombudsman 
and/or seek judicial review of the Council’s decision not to renew the tenancy. 

 

• If the formal review upholds the decision but the tenant refuses to leave a 
possession order will be applied for and the usual eviction process followed. 

 

• The Court has the discretion to refuse to grant an order for possession if the Court is 
satisfied that the Council has either failed to carry out the review or that the decision 
on the review is otherwise wrong in law.    

 
 
 
 

Do you agree with the proposed review and complaints process? 

49



 

$vcwcx3xd.doc       10 

 
9. Equalities 

 
We have used the Equalities Impact Assessment completed for the Tenancy Strategy to 
inform this Policy which follows the principles endorsed through the consultation process. 
The EQIA is available on our website through the following link: [Insert link] 
 
10. Reviewing the Tenancy Policy 

 
This policy will be monitored and reviewed annually. Revisions, such as to the income and 
savings caps, will be authorised by the Portfolio Holder for Housing.  

 

50



 

$vcwcx3xd.doc       11 

Appendix 2 – Income Limits 
 
 

Income Limits: 18 July 2012

Bed size Open market purchase Shared Ownership purchase Market rent

Median 

House Price

20% deposit 

required Mortgage

Gross 

income 

required*

Assumed 

OMV 25% share

10% 

deposit

Minimum 

gross 

income 

required

Lower 

quartile 

rent pw

Lower 

Quartile 

Rent PCM

Gross 

income 

required

1 bed £174,650 £34,930 £139,720 £39,920 £195,000 £48,750 £4,875 £26,000 £173 £750 £30,000

2 bed £286,300 £57,260 £299,040 £65,440 £249,950 £62,488 £6,249 £32,000 £219 £950 £38,000

3 bed £363,400 £72,680 £290,720 £83,063 £350,000 £87,500 £8,750 £44,000 £277 £1,200 £48,000

4 bed £471,800 £94,360 £377,440 £107,840 £430,000 £107,500 £10,750 £54,000 £346 £1,500 £60,000

NB. Based on housing costs not exceeding 30% of gross income (which is currently equivalent to 40% of net income where net

income is 75% of gross. In 2011 the gross median weekly wage of Harrow residents was £603 (£31,356 per annum) and the 

gross median weekly wage of Harrow residents working in Harrow was £510 (£26,520 per annum)  

51



52

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

REPORT FOR: 

 

TENANTS’, 

LEASEHOLDERS’  & 

RESIDENTS’ 

CONSULTATIVE FORUM 

Date of Meeting: 26 September 2012 
 

Subject: 

 

INFORMATION REPORT –  

Housing Rent Options paper 

 

Responsible Officer: Lynne Pennington, Divisional Director 
of Housing Services 
 

Exempt: No  
 

Enclosures: 

 

None 

 
 

Section 1 – Summary 
 

The purpose of this report is to provide an outline of some of the options that 
may be available to the Council should it wish to re-visit its existing rent 
strategy. 
 

FOR INFORMATION 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5 
Pages 53 to 62 

53



 

 2 
 

Section 2 – Report 
 
2. Current Rent Policy 

2.1. The rental policy currently being employed by Harrow to set its housing rents 

was approved by Cabinet and Council in March 2011, and was based on a 

continuation of Government rent convergence policy, which assumed that 

rents would increase annually by not more than RPI + 0.5% real growth + £2 

until such time as convergence with target rent had been achieved. At the 

time of setting this year’s rent increase, this policy resulted in an average rent 

of £102.14, an increase of 6.72%, although it should be noted that the RPI 

figure specified for use in the calculation (September 2011 figure) was 5.6%, 

which made a significant contribution towards the size of the overall increase.  

2.2.  In addition to its compliance with the Government rent convergence policy 

for the purposes of calculating rent increases, the Council has also 

implemented a policy of charging new lettings at the target rent for the 

property being let, rather than continuing the rent convergence path that 

would otherwise have been followed if the property had not become vacant. 

This policy means that progress towards full rent convergence is being made 

slightly faster than would otherwise have been the case (during 2011/12 253 

new lettings were made at target rent out of 293 lets overall).  

2.3. In adopting this policy, the Council needs to have regard to the average level 

of actual rents compared with the average level of the Limit rent used in the 

rent rebate subsidy limitation calculation, which are assumed to converge 

with target rents by 2015/16. This comparison is necessary because if actual 

rents are higher on average than limit rents, then the Council may not obtain 

the full benefit of these rent increases as rent rebate subsidy received within 

the General Fund may be capped, and the excess chargeable to the Housing 

Revenue Account. 

2.4. This paper aims to identify the options that may be available to Harrow 

Council should it wish to review its policy in respect of future rental income 

and consider alternative methodologies which may involve increasing rents 

above the levels currently projected so as to provide more resources within 

the HRA. 

Future rent policy options 

Status Quo 

2.5. The first option available to the Council is, of course, to retain the status quo, 

i.e. not to take any action to increase its levels of rental income (other than 

that level of increase assumed by the current convergence process and 

inflationary increases thereafter).  

 

54



 

 3 
 

2.6. Given that welfare reform and the introduction of the benefit cap and 

Universal Credit are imminent, which are expected to place a squeeze on 

tenants’ incomes and potentially give rise to an increased likelihood of rent 

collection problems and rent losses through bad debts, the Council may 

decide that this is not an appropriate time to consider any approach that 

attempts to increase above the levels currently projected (and thus add to the 

burden of some of the 71% of tenants in receipt of full or partial housing 

benefit). The rent increase for 2013/14 will be dependent on the level of RPI 

in September, but if we assume for the moment that it may be the same as 

July’s figure of 3.2% (the most recent one announced at the time of writing 

this paper), then based on the current rent convergence profile the increase 

for next year could be in the region of 4.4%. This would mean that the 

average rent for next year would be in excess of £106 per week (around £4 

per week more than 2012/13), even without a change of rent policy.  

 

2.7. An additional factor that may count against increasing rents at the moment is 

“the message” that this would give out: we have been saying that self 

financing is a good thing and will enable us to meet all of our investment 

requirements and generate significant surpluses in the HRA, but to then say 

that we still want to increase rents to generate yet more surpluses may be a 

message that would not prove to be politically acceptable, unless perhaps it 

was in the context of providing additional funds for new affordable housing. 

 

Alternative Policies 

 

2.8. One option for the Council could be to disregard rent convergence 

completely, as some other Councils, such as Wandsworth, have done, and 

implement a policy of the Council’s rents being linked by some mechanism to 

private sector rent levels within Harrow, or to the level of the Local Housing 

Allowance. This would be a significant departure from the current policy, and 

would be likely to result in the Council incurring costs in the HRA as a result 

of Rent Rebate Subsidy Limitation. Whilst this would reduce the overall 

benefit of the additional rents raised, there could still be additional resources 

generated for use within the HRA, albeit that the cost to the tenants would be 

greater than the benefits derived. An example of this would be in the case of 

Wandsworth, whereby rental income increased by £6.3m between 2010/11 

and 2011/12, but Rent Rebate subsidy limitation increased by £0.5m, 

meaning that nearly 8% of the additional rent was lost due to the subsidy 

limitation calculation. 

 

2.9. A second option could be for the Council to petition the Department for 

Communities and Local Government to be able to use target rent plus 5% as 

the convergence target for rents. At the time that rent reform was first 

introduced, this approach was outlined in the guidance, mainly for the 

purposes of ensuring that RSLs’ (as they then were) business plans 

55



 

 4 
 

remained viable, as many had long term assumptions for higher rents. Whilst 

this provision was substantially aimed at the RSL sector, there was an 

acceptance that in specific circumstances, and provided a valid case could 

be made to DCLG (DETR at the time), then local authorities too may be able 

to adopt this strategy. What would be acknowledged as a valid case was 

subject to individual circumstances, but typically, being in a very high-value 

area, or consistency with the rent levels of other registered providers may be 

seen as valid reasons. It is not clear whether approval by DCLG would 

automatically trigger a commensurate recalculation of the limit rent, but if this 

were not the case, and rent rebate subsidy limitation therefore was projected 

to become a factor, then if the Council wanted to do something along these 

lines then it could always use the approach outlined above in 2.8, rather than 

petitioning DCLG. If the limit rent calculation was adjusted to take account of 

the revision to target rents, then this option could generate additional income 

for the HRA at no additional cost. 

 

2.10. A third option could be for the Council to adopt a policy of re-valuing its 

properties for the purposes of rent setting following major investment 

programmes, i.e. significant investment would increase the value of a 

property, which in turn would increase the value-related element of the target 

rent calculation. This is an approach being adopted by a significant number of 

registered providers, who are seeing this as both a logical approach that 

reflects the increase in value of properties following significant investment, 

and thereby the increased amenity being provided to the tenants of those 

properties, and obviously a means by which income may be increased to 

help fund the additional ongoing investment in the stock. This option is now 

also starting to come under more scrutiny within local government as a 

possible means of increasing income under the self-financing regime, as it is 

one of the few ways available to increase rental income to any significant 

extent. 

 

2.11. It remains to be seen to what extent investment programmes would 

increase the value of individual properties, and work is currently underway 

with the Council’s valuers to assess the value of one of each of the beacon 

properties used for valuation purposes, assuming the completion of a 

significant investment programme. These valuations will then be discounted 

back to January 1999 prices (the valuation base used for calculating formula 

(target) rents) and the revised valuations used to calculate revised target 

rents. We would then be able to calculate revised convergence profiles and 

ascertain the potential impact of this approach on income levels and the HRA 

business plan as a whole. 

 

2.12. The options outlined above are set out below in the Rent Options 

Matrix: 

56



 

 5 
 

Rent Option Description Advantages Disadvantages/Risks Recommendation 

Status Quo No action to increase 
levels of rental income 
(other than that level of 
increase assumed by 
the current convergence 
process and inflationary 
increases thereafter) 
RPI currently assumed 
to be 2.5% throughout 
model, convergence for 
most properties 
assumed to occur by 
2015/16  

Current policy agreed with members 
and tenants. 
 
“Safe” option, no controversy. 
 

No increased income 
(over that previously 
projected) 
 
Low risk option 
 
The rent increase to be 
applied in 2013/14 will 
depend on the RPI figure 
for September 2012, but 
based on the published 
figure for July would be in 
the region of 4.36% 

Could be seen as 
favoured option in short-
term. 

Disregard 
rent 
convergence 

Disregard rent 
convergence completely, 
and implement a policy 
of the Council’s rents 
being linked by some 
mechanism to private 
sector rent levels within 
Harrow, or to the level of 
the Local Housing 
Allowance. 

“Scientific” basis for rent setting 
 
Rent differentials maintained between 
dwelling types 
 
Generate additional income for HRA – 
a 5% increase in average rents would 
generate additional rental income in 
the region of £60m over 30 years, 
although £38m of this would be lost in 
rent rebate subsidy limitation, giving a 
net benefit of £22m 

High risk politically 
 
“Why do this now?” – 
cynical exercise to raise 
money. 
 
Rent rebate subsidy 
limitation would lessen 
benefit 
 
Affordability issues for 
tenants at same time as 
benefit changes hit 
 
Lose comparability with 
RSL (RP) rents 

Risks may well outweigh 
potential benefits at this 
stage 

57



 

 6 
 

Rent Option Description Advantages Disadvantages/Risks Recommendation 

Target + 5% Council could petition 
the DCLG to use target 
rent plus 5% as 
convergence target for 
rents. This provision 
substantially aimed at 
the RSL sector, but 
could apply to LAs 
provided a valid case 
could be made to DCLG 
(DETR at the time) Valid 
case typically included: 
being in a very high-
value area, or 
consistency with the rent 
levels of other registered 
providers. 

Consistent basis for rent setting 
 
Rent differentials maintained 
 
Generate additional income for HRA  
- an increase of 5% and convergence 
with this increased target would 
generate additional rental income in 
the region of £60m. The net benefit 
would depend on the extent to which 
DCLG permitted the increased target 
rents to be used in the limit rent 
calculation. 
 
Methodology not too far removed 
from current calculation  
 
 

High risk politically 
 
May be seen as 
“Arbitrary” increases – 
again why do this now 
when HRA being 
broadcast as being in 
better position than ever? 
 
Rent rebate subsidy 
limitation could lessen 
benefits 
 
Affordability issues for 
tenants at same time as 
benefit changes hit 
 
No guarantee would be 
permitted 
 

Risks may well outweigh 
potential benefits at this 
stage 

Revalue 
properties 

Re-value properties for 
the purposes of rent 
setting following major 
investment programmes 

Logical and transparent 
 
Methodology unchanged 
 
Rational reason for increasing value  
element of rent calculation 
 
Generate additional income for HRA  
- preliminary estimates indicate 
property values used for rent 
calculation purposes could be 

Medium risk option 
 
Why do this now when 
HRA being broadcast as 
being in better position 
than ever? 
 
Rent rebate subsidy 
limitation could lessen 
benefits 
 

Less risky option, likely 
to be more acceptable, 
but would it be better to 
delay until impact of HRA 
reform and Housing 
changes more certain? 

58



 

 7 
 

Rent Option Description Advantages Disadvantages/Risks Recommendation 

increased by around 7.5% as a result 
of investment, which would translate 
to an increase in average target rents 
in the region of 2.85% (property 
values only impact on 30% of the 
initial target rent calculation). Further 
work is being undertaken to assess 
the potential impact of planned 
investment on property values in 
more detail. 
 
An increase at this level would 
generate additional rental income in 
the region of £34m over 30 years. 
The net impact would depend on 
whether DCLG would permit any 
increase in target rents to be reflected 
in the limit rent calculation. If it was 
not permitted, in the region of £21.5m 
would be lost through rent rebate 
subsidy limitation resulting in a net 
benefit to the HRA of £12.5m. 
 
Could be considered as part of the 
future asset management strategy 
and relate to regeneration or new 
affordable housing proposals 

Affordability issues for 
tenants at same time as 
benefit changes hit 

59



 

 8 

Conclusions 

2.13. The Council has a range of options available to it, should it wish to 

review the rent policy adopted in March 2011. In reviewing the policy, 

the Council does not have to actually amend it if it feels that the current 

policy is working satisfactorily and has proven acceptable to tenants, 

albeit with some reservations regarding affordability and tenants’ ability 

to pay following benefit reform, particularly in periods of high inflation, as 

was the case for this year’s increase. 

 

2.14. We have outlined above some options that the Council could 

investigate further should it wish to consider changing rental policy to 

generate additional income going forward. One of the options (Target 

rent + 5%) could potentially be viewed as creating “arbitrary” increases, 

but the other two have a more scientific basis of calculation. In terms of 

acceptability, however, for the Council to now decide to disregard rent 

convergence , having followed it for so many years (unlike authorities 

such as Wandsworth), may be seen as a cynical means of generating 

additional income, whereas a methodology based on actual 

improvements may be seen as more palatable, the improvements being 

indisputable. 

 

2.15. As already indicated above, all options that would involve 

increasing rents would need to be considered against the possibility of 

actual rents being in excess of limit rents. In practice this could mean 

that tenants would not see the full benefit of the increased rents, in 

terms of improved services or additional investment, due to additional 

costs being generated in the HRA as a result of Rent Rebate subsidy 

Limitation. 

 

2.16. In considering any of these options, it will be necessary to 

undertake a full Equalities Impact Assessment to ensure that the effect 

of any of them would not be disproportionate to any particular sector of 

our current or future tenants. The aim would be to undertake this once 

the information for modelling becomes available, although an initial 

assessment suggests that most of the options likely to be available to 

the Council would not involve a change in the underlying methodology 

of the rent calculation, and would not therefore be expected to have a 

disproportionate impact on any particular group. Disregarding rent 

convergence completely appears to present the most potential for a 

disproportionate impact, but this would necessarily depend on the new 

methodology for rent-setting, which we are not in a position to assess at 

present. 

 

2.17. We are obviously at a stage now where we are starting to develop 

the HRA and we know that some of the areas we are seeking to develop 

60



 

 9 
 

will mean additional ongoing costs within the HRA and so reduce the 

long-term balances. Some of the areas that will impact on the HRA may 

not be known in time for the 2013/14 budget, or potentially even a year 

or two beyond that, so we may not have a firm long-term forecast for 

several years. 

 

2.18.  It may be the case that the Council may decide not to change its 

rent policy at this stage, but to reserve the right to re-visit this issue at a 

later stage when we know what the impact of welfare reform is and have 

the currently-desired levels of service in place, as at that stage we may 

be able to better “sell” the need to increase rents to top up the resources 

projected to be available at the time. 

 

Section 3 – Further Information 
 
3. All relevant information is contained within the report. 
 

Section 4 – Financial Implications 
 
4. Financial matters are integral to the report. 
 

Section 5 – Corporate Priorities  
 
5. The content in this report informs tenants, leaseholders and residents of 

some of the options that may be available to the Council should it wish to 
change the way in which it sets rents in the future, and supports the 
corporate priority of ‘united and involved communities’ by engaging more 
effectively with residents.  

 

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name: Milan Joshi X  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date: ……13/09/2012……….. 

   

 

Section 6 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 
Contact: Dave Roberts, Housing Finance Business Partner 
  Direct 0208 420 9678 
 
Background Papers:   
  None 

61



62

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 INFORMATION REPORT: Housing Changes Review Update
	Tenancy Strategy consultation summary 09 08 12
	Tenancy Strategy v11 ap 09 08 12 FINAL DRAFT
	Tenancy Policy v4 9 08 12 FINAL CONSULTATION DRAFT

	5 INFORMATION REPORT: Housing Rent Options Paper

